

NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND WELFARE

Heli Honkala

The Molecular Basis of Hydrolethalus Syndrome



Heli Honkala

THE MOLECULAR BASIS OF HYDROLETHALUS SYNDROME

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented with the permission of the Faculty of Biosciences, University of Helsinki, for public examination in Lecture Hall 2, Biomedicum Helsinki, on April 3rd, 2009, at noon.

National Public Health Institute

and

National Institute for Health and Welfare

and

Division of Genetics, Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences, Faculty of Biosciences, University of Helsinki

and

Helsinki Biomedical Graduate School

Helsinki, Finland 2009



Helsinki University Biomedical Dissertations No. 118 ISSN 1457-8433

© National Institute for Health and Welfare

ISBN 978- 952-245-034-0 (painettu) ISBN 978- 952-245-035-7 (verkkojulkaisu) ISSN 1798-0054 (painettu) ISSN 1798-0062 (verkkojulkaisu)

Kannen kuva - cover graphic: Heli Honkala

Yliopistopaino Helsinki 2009

Supervised by

Docent Marjo Kestilä Department of Chronic Disease Prevention Public Health Genomics National Institute for Health and Welfare Helsinki, Finland

Reviewed by

Professor Anna-Elina Lehesjoki Folkhälsan Institute of Genetics and Neuroscience Center, University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Professor Raili Myllylä Department of Biochemistry University of Oulu Oulu, Finland

Opponent

Docent Sirpa Kivirikko HUSLAB Laboratory of Molecular Genetics Helsinki University Central Hospital Helsinki, Finland

Custos

Professor Katarina Pelin Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences Division of Genetics University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland "Don't fear change – embrace it."

Anthony J. D'Angelo

To my family

Heli Honkala, The Molecular Basis of Hydrolethalus Syndrome Publications of the National Institute for Health and Welfare, 5|2009, 86 Pages ISBN 978- 952-245-034-0 (print); 978- 952-245-035-7 (pdf-version) ISSN 1798-0054 (print); 1798-0062 (pdf-version) http://www.thl.fi

ABSTRACT

Hydrolethalus syndrome (HLS) is a severe fetal malformation syndrome that is inherited by an autosomal recessive manner. HLS belongs to the Finnish disease heritage, an entity of rare diseases that are more prevalent in Finland than in other parts of the world. The phenotypic spectrum of the syndrome is wide and it is characterized by several developmental abnormalities, including hydrocephalus and absent midline structures in the brain, abnormal lobation of the lungs, polydactyly as well as micrognathia and other craniofacial anomalies. Polyhydramnios are relatively frequent during pregnancy. HLS can nowadays be effectively identified by ultrasound scan already at the end of the first trimester of pregnancy. Usually, pregnancy is terminated due to the severe developmental defects of the fetus.

One of the main goals in this thesis was to identify and characterize the gene defect underlying HLS. The defect, an A to G point mutation, was found from a previously unknown gene that was named HYLS1. Since HYLS1 was an unknown gene with no relatives in the known gene families, many functional studies were performed in order to unravel the function of the gene and of the protein it codes for. Studies with overexpression cell models showed that the subcellular localization of the HYLS1 protein was different when the wild type and its mutant forms were compared. Wild type protein was mainly localized diffusely in the cytoplasm whereas the mutant form was observed largely in the nucleus in punctate nuclear inclusions. The wild type form was seen to be completely localized in the nucleus when the function of the putative nuclear export signal in HYLS1 was blocked. In addition, HYLS1 was shown to possess transactivation potential which was significantly diminished in the mutant form. When studying possible differences in gene expression in fibroblast cells obtained from HLS cases and healthy controls using the microarray method, several genes belonging to many different cellular pathways (e.g. lipid metabolism, cell cycle regulation, signal transduction) were seen to be differentially expressed. Studies done with neuronal progenitor cells revealed that HLS cells had a higher proliferation rate and a lower apoptosis rate than control cells. Essential novel information was also gathered from studies performed at the tissue level. For example, cholesterol level was shown to be significantly elevated in HLS liver samples.

Neuropathological findings of mutation confirmed HLS cases were described for the first time in detail in this study. In addition to neuropathological features described earlier, such as absent midline structures and a keyhole-like opening in the base of the skull, new analyses revealed for example hypothalamic hamartoma as a frequent finding. Microscopically, many developmental defects of the central nervous system were found, these including cortical dysplasia, rosette structures in the cerebral cortex and irregular radial glial cell structures. Also, general pathological findings were described which showed an interestingly wide variation in the HLS phenotype.

At the beginning of this thesis work, HYLS1 was an unknown gene with an unknown function. Lots of new information about the function of the gene and the protein was obtained in this study although the precise function of HYLS1 remains to be elucidated. HYLS1 most likely participates in transcriptional regulation and also in the regulation of cholesterol metabolism and the function of HYLS1 is critical for normal fetal development. Identification of the gene defect made it possible to confirm the HLS diagnosis genetically, an aspect that provides valuable information for the families in which a fetus is suspected to have HLS. Studying developmental malformation syndromes such as HLS offers essential new information also for the understanding of molecular and cellular events required for normal fetal development.

Keywords: hydrolethalus syndrome, HYLS1, fetal development, developmental disorder, central nervous system

Heli Honkala, The Molecular Basis of Hydrolethalus Syndrome Terveyden hyvinvoinnin laitoksen julkaisuja, 5|2009, 86 sivua ISBN 978- 952-245-034-0 (print); 978- 952-245-035-7 (pdf-versio) ISSN 1798-0054 (print); 1798-0062 (pdf-versio) http://www.thl.fi

TIIVISTELMÄ

Hydroletalus-oireyhtymä (HLS) on peittyvästi periytyvä, suomalaiseen tautiperintöön kuuluva vakava oireyhtymä, joka ilmenee jo sikiönkehityksen aikana ja johtaa kuolemaan viimeistään ensimmäisten elinpäivien aikana. Oireyhtymän ilmiasun kirjo on laaja ja tyypillisiä piirteitä on useita, näistä yleisimpinä keskushermoston epänormaalit rakenteet kuten vesipäisyys ja aivojen keskiviivan rakenteiden puutos, keuhkojen epänormaali lohkojako, polydaktylia eli ylimääräiset sormet ja varpaat sekä pienileukaisuus ja muut kasvojen rakenteiden poikkeavuudet. Lapsiveden määrä loppuraskaudessa on usein moninkertainen normaaliin raskauteen verrattuna. Nykyään HLS pystytään tunnistamaan luotettavasti ultraäänitutkimuksen avulla jopa jo ensimmäisen raskauskolmanneksen lopulla ja useimmiten päädytään raskauden keskeytykseen sikiön vakavien kehityshäiriöiden vuoksi.

Tämän tutkimuksen yhtenä päätavoitteena oli tunnistaa ja karakterisoida geeni, jonka mutaatio johtaa hydroletalus-oireyhtymän syntyyn. Geenivirhe, A-G -pistemutaatio, löydettiin aiemmin tuntemattomasta geenistä, jolle annettiin nimi HYLS1 oireyhtymän mukaan. HYLS1 oli aiemmin tuntematon geeni eikä se kuulunut mihinkään aiemmin tunnettuun geeniperheeseen, joten väitöstyössä tehtiin monia toiminnallisia tutkimuksia geenin ja sen koodaaman proteiinin toiminnan selvittämiseksi. Solutason tutkimuksissa saatiin selville, että HYLS1-proteiinin normaalimuodon ia mutanttimuodon solunsisäinen siiainti on erilainen yliekspressiomallissa. Normaali proteiini sijaitsi lähinnä diffuusisti solulimassa, kun taas mutanttimuotoa havaittiin laajalti tumassa pistemäisinä rakenteina. Normaalin HYLS1-proteiinin nähtiin sijoittuvan tumaan silloin, kun sen mahdollisen tumastavientisignaalin toiminta estettiin. Lisäksi HYLS1:lla havaittiin olevan transaktivaatio-ominaisuus, joka oli merkittävästi pienentynyt silloin, kun proteiini on mutaation seurauksena viallinen. Kun HLS- ja kontrollisikiöiden ihon fibroblastisolujen geeniekspressiota tutkittiin mikrosirumenetelmän avulla. ilmentymiseroja nähtiin moneen eri signaalireittiin (mm. lipidimetabolia, solusyklin säätely, signaalitransduktio) kuuluvissa geeneissä. Solutason jatkotutkimuksissa HLS-tapausten hermoston prekursorisolujen havaittiin jakaantuvan kontrollisoluja nopeammin, kun taas niiden apoptoosivauhti oli hidastunut. Näiden tulosten lisäksi myös kudostasolla tehdyt tutkimukset toivat arvokasta tietoa. Esimerkiksi maksan

kolesterolipitoisuuden havaittiin olevan HLS-tapauksilla huomattavasti kohonnut kontrollitapauksiin verrattuna.

Tämän tutkimuksen aikana kuvattiin myös ensimmäistä kertaa yksityiskohtaiset HLS-tapauksista, neuropatologiset löydökset joiden *HYLS1*-mutaatio oli varmennettu. Makroskooppisissa tutkimuksissa aiemmin kuvattujen ja raportoitujen löydösten (mm. keskiviivan rakenteiden puutos aivoissa ja HLS:lle tyypillinen avaimenreikädefekti kallonpohjassa) lisäksi yleisenä löydöksenä kuvattiin nyt myös mm. hypotalaminen hamartooma. Mikroskooppisessa tarkastelussa löydettiin monia keskushermoston kehityshäiriöitä, kuten vaillinaisesti kehittynyt aivokuori, rosettirakenteet aivokuoressa sekä epänormaalisti järjestyneet radiaaligliasolut. Neuropatologisten löydösten lisäksi kuvattiin myös yleiset patologiset löydökset yksityiskohtaisesti. Löydösten perusteella voitiin todeta, että HLS:n ilmiasu vaihtelee suuresti.

Väitöstutkimuksen alkaessa *HYLS1* oli geeni, jonka toimintaa ei ollut aiemmin kartoitettu. Tutkimuksessa saatiin paljon uutta tietoa geenin ja proteiinin toimintaan liittyen, vaikka HYLS1:n tarkkaa toimintaa ei vielä tiedetä. Mitä todennäköisimmin HYLS1 on solun transkription säätelyyn ja ehkä myös kolesterolimetabolian säätelyyn osallistuva proteiini, jolla on hyvin keskeinen tehtävä sikiönkehityksen aikana. Geenivirheen tunnistaminen toi tärkeän mahdollisuuden HLS-diagnoosin geneettiseen varmistukseen. Tämän myötä voidaan tarjota hyödyllistä geneettistä tietoa perheille, joissa epäillään sikiöllä olevan hydroletalus-oireyhtymä. Nyt tutkitun oireyhtymän sekä lisäksi muiden harvinaisten oireyhtymien tutkimus tarjoavat osaltaan arvokasta uutta tietoa myös normaalin sikiönkehityksen tapahtumien tutkimukseen molekyyli- ja solutasolla.

Avainsanat: hydroletalus-oireyhtymä, HYLS1, sikiönkehitys, kehityshäiriö, keskushermosto

CONTENTS

Abbreviations10				
Lis	t of oı	iginal publications12		
1	Intro	oduction14		
2	Review of the literature			
	2.1	THE FINNISH DISEASE HERITAGE		
	2.2	IDENTIFICATION OF DISEASE GENES		
		2.2.1 Positional cloning		
		2.2.2 Genetic mapping		
		2.2.3 Mutation analysis		
	2.3	HYDROLETHALUS SYNDROME		
		2.3.1 History		
		2.3.2 Clinical picture		
		2.3.3 Genetics		
		2.3.4 Differential diagnostics		
	2.4	FETAL DEVELOPMENT		
		2.4.1 General aspects		
		2.4.2 Key molecules and signaling pathways		
		2.4.3 Development of the central nervous system		
		2.4.4 Congenital malformations and malformation syndromes		
3	Aim	s of the study		
4	Subj	ects, materials and methods37		
	4.1	FAMILIES, DNA AND TISSUE SAMPLES		
	4.2	ETHICAL ASPECTS		
	4.3	METHODS PRESENTED IN ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS		
	4.4	METHODS USED IN UNPUBLISHED STUDIES		
5	Resi	llts and discussion41		
	5.1 IDENTIFICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF THE GENE UNDERLYIN			
		HLS41		
		5.1.1 Defining of the critical genomic region for HLS locus (I)		
		5.1.2 The disease-causing mutation in HLS (I)		
		5.1.3 Basic characteristics of the HYLS1 gene and protein (I, unpublished). 44		

	5.1.4 Developmental expression of <i>Hyls1</i> in mouse tissues (I)	48	
	5.2 CHARACTERIZATION OF THE HYLS1 PROTEIN	49	
	5.2.1 Expression and stability (I)	49	
	5.2.2 Subcellular localization of HYLS1 in a cell model (I)	50	
	5.2.3 Localization of HYLS1 in D. melanogaster model (I)	51	
	5.2.4 Analysis of nuclear export signal in HYLS1 (III)	52	
	5.2.5 Transactivation assay (III)	53	
	5.3 UNRAVELING THE DISEASE PATHOGENESIS OF HLS	54	
	5.3.1 Mutation confirmation of study samples (II)	54	
	5.3.2 General autopsy findings in HLS (II)	55	
	5.3.3 Macroscopic neuropathological picture of HLS (II)	57	
	5.3.4 Microscopic neuropathological picture of HLS (II, unpublished)	61	
	5.3.5 Genome-wide gene expression analysis (III)	64	
	5.3.6 Cell proliferation rate and the amount of apoptosis (III)	66	
	5.3.7 Lipid metabolism (III)	67	
6	Conclusions and future prospects	71	
Ac	Acknowledgements		
Ref	References		

ABBREVIATIONS

ACAT2	acetyl-Coenzyme A acetyltransferase 2
ACLS	acrocallosal syndrome
BrdU	bromodeoxyuridine
CCND1	cyclin D1
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
cM	centiMorgan
CNF	congenital nephrosis of the Finnish type
CNS	central nervous system
COS-1	African green monkey kidney cell line
СР	choroid plexus
CSF	cerebrospinal fluid
DHCR7	7-dehydrocholesterol reductase
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
EST	expressed sequence tag
FDH	Finnish disease heritage
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
GCPS	Greig cephalopolysyndactyly syndrome
GLI3	GLI-Kruppel family member 3
HEK-293	human embryonic kidney cell line
HH	hedgehog
HLS	hydrolethalus syndrome
HMGCS1	3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-Coenzyme A synthase 1
HYLS1	hydrolethalus syndrome 1
kb	kilobase
kDa	kilodalton
LD	linkage disequilibrium
LDLR	low density lipoprotein receptor
LMB	leptomycin B
MIM	Mendelian inheritance in man
mRNA	messenger DNA
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
NES	nuclear export signal
NLS	nuclear localization signal
NPC	nuclear pore complex
OFD	orofacio-digital
ORF	open reading frame
PBS	phosphate buffer solution
PCR	polymerase chain reaction

PHS	Pallister-Hall syndrome
pI	isoelectric point
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RT	room temperature
RT-PCR	reverse-transcriptase PCR
SHH	Sonic hedgehog
SH-SY5Y	human neuroblastoma cell line
SLOS	Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
SUMO	small ubiquitin-like modifier
TGF	transforming growth factor
THBS1	thrombospondin 1
UCSC	University of California, Santa Cruz
WNT	Wingless-type
wt	wild type

In addition, the standard abbreviations for nucleotides and amino acids are used. The abbreviations of the gene names are written in italics and the protein names in regular letters. Human gene names are capitalized, mouse gene names are written in lower case letters. Protein names are capitalized.

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original articles referred to in the text by their Roman numerals (I-III):

- I Mee Lisa*, Honkala Heli*, Kopra Outi, Vesa Jouni, Finnilä Saara, Visapää Ilona, Sang Tzu-Kang, Jackson George, Salonen Riitta, Kestilä Marjo, Peltonen Leena (2005) Hydrolethalus syndrome is caused by a missense mutation in a novel gene *HYLS1*. Human Molecular Genetics 14:1475-88.
- II Paetau Anders*, Honkala Heli*, Salonen Riitta, Ignatius Jaakko, Kestilä Marjo, Herva Riitta (2008) Hydrolethalus syndrome: Neuropathology of 21 cases confirmed by *HYLS1* gene mutation analysis. Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology 67:750-62.
- III Honkala Heli, Lahtela Jenni, Fox Heli, Gentile Massimiliano, Pakkasjärvi Niklas, Salonen Riitta, Wartiovaara Kirmo, Jauhiainen Matti, Kestilä Marjo. Unraveling the disease pathogenesis behind lethal hydrolethalus syndrome revealed multiple changes in molecular and cellular level. Submitted.
- * Authors have contributed equally to the work.

Some unpublished data are also presented. Publication I has appeared in the thesis of Lisa Mee (USA 2005).

These articles are reproduced with the kind permission of their copyright holders.

Author's contribution to publications

I: HH contributed to the DNA, RNA and protein studies. HH also participated in drafting the manuscript.

II: HH participated in the general study design. HH also designed the PCR and sequencing processes of the samples and performed all the genetic analyses. HH drafted the manuscript with other authors.

III: HH contributed to the study design and sample collection. HH participated in all experiments and fully performed part of them, as well as gathered the final results and wrote the manuscript.

1 INTRODUCTION

Fetal development is an amazing event with a precisely orchestrated series of signaling cascades which control cells to become different tissues and finally, a living organism. Defects in these processes can lead to severe developmental malformations and to fetal death.

It is very important to identify any genetic defect behind an inherited disorder since even if the studied disease is rare, the results of the multiple functional studies performed in the course of research of these entities most probably will offer significant information also about the molecular and cellular events and pathways required for normal development in general. Also, identification of the defect provides a useful tool for confirming the diagnosis and thus, gives essential information for families at risk.

Hydrolethalus syndrome (HLS, MIM 236680) is a lethal malformation syndrome of the fetal stage belonging to the group of disorders called the Finnish disease heritage. HLS is inherited autosomally recessively and it is enriched in the Finnish population with an incidence of at least 1:20,000. HLS is characterized by several malformations of the developing organs. In the central nervous system, prominent features include absent midline structures and the hydrocephalus. Other hallmark features consist of micrognathia, polydactyly of hands and feet, defective lobation of the lungs, craniofacial anomalies as well as polyhydramnios during pregnancy. HLS was first described in the 1980's when it was separated from the Meckel syndrome (Salonen et al. 1981) and thus, HLS became its own syndrome entity. In addition to Finnish cases, some non-Finnish cases resembling HLS have been reported abroad.

Since the molecular background of HLS had not been characterized before this study, the main goal in this study was first to identify the gene and the mutation(s) underlying HLS. As the disease-causing mutation was found, subsequent analyses consisted of determination of the protein function as well as unraveling the disease pathogenesis of HLS with studies both at the cellular and tissue levels. Also, the neuropathological picture of this severe syndrome was described in detail for the first time. The general pathological findings reported simultaneously with the neuropathological results revealed a highly interesting wide phenotypic spectrum in HLS.

2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 The Finnish disease heritage

An entity called the Finnish disease heritage (FDH) is a set of inherited conditions that are more common in Finland than elsewhere in the world when compared to population size (Norio et al. 1973; Perheentupa 1972). Nowadays, 36 disorders are included under this definition. All of these disorders are monogenic and relatively rare, 32 of them being autosomal recessive, two autosomal dominant and two X-linked (Norio 2003c). At the same time, some diseases like cystic fibrosis and phenylketonuria that are common elsewhere have very low incidence in Finland (Guldberg et al. 1995; Kere et al. 1994; Pastinen et al. 2001).

Almost one third of the conditions in FDH cause some form of mental retardation and half of the diseases are lethal at some point of affected's life. In most cases, incidences of the diseases vary from 1:10,000 to 1:100,000 in Finland (Norio 2003a). As the Finnish gene pool is relatively homogeneous it has proven to be a useful tool in finding the disease-causing mutations in the genome (Peltonen et al. 1999) and in fact, the underlying causative genetic defect are currently reported for all of the disorders except for PEHO syndrome (www.findis.org). It has been shown that one founder mutation was the main contributor to all these diseases. In most diseases, more than 90% of the Finnish patients have the same Fin_{major} mutation causing the disease (Norio 2003c). However, there are also some disorders where the frequency of the Fin_{major} mutation is between 70 and 80% and in addition, other mutations have been found at varying frequencies, see e.g. (Huopaniemi et al. 1999; Kestilä et al. 1998; Sankila et al. 1992).

The reason why this unique set of diseases has been enriched in Finland is largely due to the population history of this isolated area with its sparseness of population, vast forest areas, numerous lakes and partly to pure chance, also, since the ancient inhabitants of Finland brought with them a random assortment of possible disease mutations (Norio 2003a, 2003b). This assortment stayed largely unchanged because the great population migrations did not happen in the northern part of Europe as they did in central and southern Europe. Close consanguinities between parents is not part of the cause because the rate of consanguinities are important factors in FDH (Norio 2003a).

Early and late settlement areas in Finland are often mentioned when discussing disorders belonging to FDH. The early population in Finland was mostly

concentrated in the coastal region whereas the late settlement area in the inland was effectively populated starting in the 1500s mainly from the Savo area, the national movement strongly influenced by King Gustavus Vasa (Norio 2003a). A map describing the areas of early and late settlement is presented in Figure 3 in section 2.3.1 (page 23).

There are different kinds of spreading patterns of disorders belonging to FDH and thus, the autosomally recessively inherited disorders have been divided into five groups (Norio 2003a). In the largest group of 16 disorders (for example congenital lactase deficiency), most of the birthplaces of the affecteds' grandparents are located at the late settlement area (Figure 1A). This kind of a spreading pattern suggests that the disease mutation had appeared in the Finnish population before the population started to spread to late settlement area. The second group of distribution includes the six most common disorders (for example congenital nephrosis of the Finnish type, CNF) and they have been determined to have spread to most parts of the country (Figure 1B). Based on this fact, these mutations are probably the oldest FDH mutations in the population. The third group is formed only by diastrophic dysplasia and the Meckel syndrome. They are mostly distributed in the western part of the country and the distribution follows the population density in Finland. These disorders are seen worldwide and there is a possibility that these mutations have been brought to Finland with the western Indo-European immigrants (Norio 2003b). The fourth group comprised of northern epilepsy and the Finnish variant of Jansky-Bielschowsky disease are strictly regional, thus suggesting that their mutation is very young (Figure 1C). The remaining four disorders (for example RAPADILINO syndrome) are grouped as their own entity because their maps are atypical with no similarities with the other four groups. Also, only a small number of families are affected by these disorders.



Figure 1. Distribution patterns of congenital lactase deficiency (A), CNF (B) and northern epilepsy (C). Modified from Norio 2003c.

2.2 Identification of disease genes

The important step in the era of DNA research was made when the helical structure of DNA was first published in the 1950's (Watson and Crick 1953). Identification of disease genes has experienced an enormous leap in the recent years due to the development of new study methods. The human genome project was initiated in 1990 in order to determine the nucleotide sequence of the human genome and at the same time, identify the genes that this sequence contains. The initial draft version of the genome was published by the International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium (Lander et al. 2001) simultaneously with a private company Celera Genomics (Venter et al. 2001). The nearly complete version of the sequence was published a couple of years later by the International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium (IHGSC 2004).

2.2.1 Positional cloning

When searching for the disease-causing gene in a population, usually there is no information of the possible causative gene readily available. A method called positional cloning has been widely used in these kinds of situations in the research of monogenic diseases (Collins 1992, 1995). A work-flow for positional cloning is

presented in Figure 2. In this method, disease gene identification is based on its genomic location instead of its known function. When studying isolated populations, there is a great possibility that a common genetic factor may be found behind the same phenotype shared with the patients. In order to achieve reliable results, the phenotypic criteria for the disease should be strict enough and the diagnoses should be done as accurately as possible.



Figure 2. Main steps of the positional cloning method.

In the positional cloning method, DNA material is first collected from the affecteds, siblings and parents as widely as possible and the samples are genotyped using a genome-wide marker genotyping (see section 2.2.2). After the genotyping step, linkage analysis (see section 2.2.2) is performed to find a genomic region where the possible genetic defect is situated.

2.2.2 Genetic mapping

Microsatellites and SNPs as genetic markers

The most used methods for genotyping are based on the microsatellite markers (Dubovsky et al. 1995) and single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) (Frazer et al. 2007), which are naturally occurring variations in the genome between individuals. Microsatellites are stretches of DNA where a certain nucleotide combination most often comprised of 2-4 nucleotides is repeated several times. The best microsatellite markers are the ones which have several different alleles in the population. Microsatellites are spread over the human genome at the average of once in every 2 kilobases (kb) (Lander et al. 2001). Initial screening of the genome is usually done using these variable markers, but additional markers are often needed for further studies. SNPs are less polymorphic when compared to microsatellites because they usually contain only two alleles, but lower mutation rates make them also more stable (Gray et al. 2000). The appearance of SNPs is quite dense, approximately 10 million of them can be found in the human genome. The microsatellite scan was a widely used technique earlier, but nowadays SNP scans are more commonly used since this method has proven to be more efficient with the developed and the timesaving array-based technique.

Linkage and haplotype analyses

Before it is possible to find the specific disease-causing gene, the genomic candidate region has to be identified by a statistical approach called linkage analysis (Dubovsky et al. 1995). The purpose of the analysis is to find a specific chromosomal region for a disease locus using polymorphic markers. The closer a marker locus is to a disease locus the more rarely recombinations are able to separate these two loci from each other. Thus, two loci are said to be genetically linked. In the linkage analysis method, the proportion of recombinations observed is used as a measure of genetic distance between two loci. To determine possible linkage, the recombination fraction between the two loci must be resolved. Also, it has to be determined whether the recombination fraction is significantly different from 0.5, the value that is expected with no linkage (Teare and Barrett 2005). Depending on the data available, there are different forms of linkage analysis that can be used, including two-point, multipoint, parametric and non-parametric analyses.

When the initial identification of the candidate region is made, regions are often found to be broad and to contain a large number of genes. Thus, haplotype analyses

and linkage disequilibrium (LD) studies are used for fine mapping in order to make the critical region as short as possible. Haplotypes are combinations of alleles of adjacent markers in the genome that tend to be transmitted together from one generation to the next. Haplotypes get shorter with time because of the recombinations between homologous chromosomes in meiosis. In general, the older the formed haplotype is, the shorter is its length. Haplotypes become shorter rapidly if a phenomenon called recombination hot spot is located at the genomic region (Nishant and Rao 2006). LD in turn refers to the non-random association of particular alleles at loci close to each other that occur more frequently than would be expected. When studying monogenic diseases in the isolated population such as Finns, genomic areas where the affecteds share the same haplotype are often searched for. This is applicable when it can be assumed that the disorder is caused by one ancestral founder mutation. In the course of identifying the disease genes, it has been noted that in the Finnish population, the size of the shared region can vary significantly between different syndromes. The reason for this can be for example the age of the mutation (Peltonen et al. 1999).

2.2.3 Mutation analysis

After the genetic mapping procedure, individual candidate genes in the critical region have to be tested to determine if they are causing the disease phenotype or not. Nowadays, mutation screening to find the disease-causing DNA change is commonly performed by the direct sequencing method. If the function of the genes in the critical region is known and their function can be linked to the disease, the best candidate genes for the sequencing can be easily found. But even if information from all genes is nowadays easy to find using different databases, the screening project can still be complicated and might need a lot of time to be successful.

When screening for mutations in the DNA sequence, several different kinds of them can be found. In a point mutation, one of the nucleotides in the sequence is changed to another. This change can lead to either nonsense, missense or splice site mutation. The nonsense mutation causes a premature stop codon in the coding region of the gene, this causing either protein degradation or a truncated protein. In a missense mutation, one of the amino acids in the polypeptide is changed to an other, this change possibly affecting the structure and/or function of the protein. In splicing mutation, mutations affecting the consensus sequences at splice donor or acceptor sites or at splice branch sites may make them less effective and eliminate the splicing partially or completely. It is also possible that nucleotide change might introduce a new splice site (Cartegni et al. 2002). A point mutation can also be

translationally silent, thus not affecting the amino acid composition of the produced polypeptide.

Other types of mutations include deletions, insertions and duplications that can range from one nucleotide to large genomic segments. If deletions and insertions do not occur in the group of three nucleotides or multiples of this, they cause frameshift mutations leading to a premature stop codon or defective splicing. In an inversion mutation, an entire section of DNA is reversed. A small inversion may involve only a few bases in a gene, while longer inversions can include large regions of a chromosome containing several genes. Translocation in turn is a type of unnatural genome rearrangement, where two non-homologous chromosomes exchange parts of their arms and this can lead, for example, to the disruption of a gene.

To confirm a particular change in DNA to be disease-causing, several criteria have to be met. Mutation screening in patients has to reveal at least one change in the DNA sequence that segregate with the disease in the patients' families and this segregation has to be consistent with the proposed mode of inheritance. Possible disease-causing DNA variants are also important to differentiate from neutral polymorphisms. For this, a large enough number of unaffected individuals representing the respective population have to be screened. Also, functional analyses are usually needed to perform to determine the role of the sequence variation in the cellular and tissue levels (see below).

Functional analyses

Numerous functional analyses are possible to be performed to study the nature of the DNA variants and their consequences. In silico, this can be made by analyzing the gene and/or the protein sequence by exploring various internet databases and using computer-assisted bioinformatic sequence analysis tools. Analyses can be made for instance to predict the physical and chemical characteristics of the proteins as well as to search orthologies with other species. One should bear in mind, however, that these programs might give contradictory results and that the predictions are based solely on the sequence provided in the analysis. Thus, further laboratory research is usually needed to confirm the proposed function. Just to mention a few, genomewide gene expression profiling using microarray-based techniques, analysis of spatial and temporal gene expression patterns by reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) analysis, determination of the intracellular localization of the protein using an overexpression system in cell line cultures and immunoblotting are methods that can be used in gene and protein characterization. A laborous procedure for creating an animal model based on the sequence variation in question can at best give definitive verification for the pathogenic role of the altered gene form.

2.3 Hydrolethalus syndrome

2.3.1 History

Hydrolethalus syndrome (HLS, MIM 236680) is a rare lethal malformation syndrome of the fetal stage characterized by several developmental malformations. This syndrome is enriched in the Finnish population and is part of the Finnish disease heritage. HLS has an autosomal recessive heritability with an incidence of at least 1:20,000 in Finland. HLS was first described by Riitta Salonen and her colleagues in 1981 during a nationwide study of Meckel syndrome (MIM 249000). Both of these syndromes are characterized by severe central nervous system (CNS) malformations as well as polydactyly (ie. extra fingers and toes) as their main features. Although these two syndromes share similar defects, there are also clear differences. For example, in HLS there have not been cases with the cysts in the kidneys or other parenchymatous organs, this being perhaps the single most characteristic anomaly of Meckel syndrome (Salonen et al. 1981). In addition, in HLS, the frequent finding is hydrocephalus, that is an uncharacteristic feature in Meckel syndrome.

Figure 3 shows the areas of early and late settlement areas as well as the distribution of the birthplaces of the great grandparents of Finnish HLS cases. This kind of map is typical for several other diseases of FDH, too (Norio 2003a). It has been estimated that the HLS mutation was most probably introduced to the Finnish population about 30-40 generations ago (Visapää et al. 1999).



Figure 3. Distribution pattern of hydrolethalus syndrome in Finland. The line represents the division between early and late settlement areas, early settlement concentrating in the coastal area and late settlement on the mainland. Modified from Visapää et al. 1999 and Norio 2003a.

2.3.2 Clinical picture

HLS is characterized by several developmental malformations of the CNS and many other organs. Some of the malformations are very frequent but some of them are not seen in every case. The phenotypic appearance of the syndrome can thus be decribed as a wide spectrum of features. A large hydrocephalus, micrognathia (small mandible) and polydactyly can be named as typical manifestations of HLS. The main features and their observed frequencies in HLS cases (Salonen and Herva 1990) have been listed in Table 1. Most prominent clinical features are shown in figure 4 on page 26.

Clinical feature	Percentage
Micrognathia	100
Polyhydramnios	91
Anomalous nose	89
Small / deep set eyes	87
Hydrocephalus	85
Gestational age < 38 weeks	78
Polydactyly	78
Occipital bone defect	75
Stillborn	73
Anomalous / low set ears	64
Defective lobulation of the lungs	62
Abnormal genitalia	59
Abnormal larynx / trachea	58
Cleft lip / palate	52
Club feet	48
Congenital heart disease	46
Short limbs	20
Urinary tract anomalies	16

Table 1. Main clinical features and percentage of the observed frequencies in 56 individuals with hydrolethalus syndrome. Modified from Salonen and Herva 1990.

Polyhydramnios is one of the typical HLS features with the amount of the amniotic fluid found to be up to 8 litres (Salonen et al. 1981) while normally, the amount of the amniotic fluid varies from 0.5 to 1 litre (Sariola et al. 2003). In the past, many of the HLS fetuses were stillborn, but some of the liveborn infants lived from a few minutes to a few days (R. Herva, personal communication; (Salonen and Herva 1990). HLS can nowadays be diagnosed already *in utero* by ultrasound scan (Hartikainen-Sorri et al. 1983) already at the end of the first trimester of pregnancy (Ämmälä and Salonen 1995). Due to the severe malformations most of the families decide to terminate the pregnancy.

The most frequent CNS abnormality in HLS is a large hydrocephalus, with an extreme case of 2100 ml of fluid reported (Salonen et al. 1981). A few cases with anencephaly have also been seen (Salonen and Herva 1990; Salonen et al. 1981). No cases with holoprosencephaly with only one brain hemisphere have been described.

In the typical cases with hydrocephalus, the hemispheres are separated and they lie at the bottom of the skull. The upper midline structures, including the corpus callosum and septum pellucidum, are absent. A special kind of occipitoschisis is found in many times, forming a cleft in the base of the skull in the midline of the occipital bone and forming a keyhole-shaped opening. In some cases the pituitary or olfactory nerves are absent. Frequently, the gyration of the brain is grossly abnormal. It has been suggested that a rapidly expanding hydrocephalus may cause the defects in the craniofacial development (Krassikoff et al. 1987).

Craniofacially, the most frequent finding is micrognathia, i.e. a small, sometimes rudimentary, mandible. Cleft palate or lip has also been reported as well as malformations in the tongue, nose, ears and eyes (Salonen and Herva 1990; Salonen et al. 1981). In the eyes, a coboloma and hypoplasia of the optic nerve has been reported (Kivelä et al. 1996). In the limbs, polydactyly is frequently documented. Polydactyly, which means extra toes and/or fingers, is usually postaxial in the hands and preaxial in the feet. Hallux duplex, a duplicated big toe, is a hallmark feature in the feet. Also other abnormalities in the limbs, for example club-foot-like deformity and abnormally short arms and legs have been found (Herva and Seppänen 1984; Salonen et al. 1981).

About half of the reported cases have had a congenital heart defect (Salonen and Herva 1990), the main finding being a large ventricular septal defect. Also respiratory organs, including the larynx and the trachea, have sometimes been reported to be abnormal. In some cases, the lobulation of the lungs has been incomplete or completely absent. There have been cases with mild abnormalities of the genitalia, but the sex has always been distinguishable (Salonen et al. 1981).



Figure 4. An HLS fetus of 19th gestation week with some of the most prominent clinical features shown.

There have been several reports about non-Finnish cases having overlapping features with the Finnish HLS cases, see e.g. (Adetoro et al. 1984; Anyane-Yeboa et al. 1987; Aughton and Cassidy 1987; Bachman et al. 1990; Chan et al. 2004; de Ravel et al. 1999; Krassikoff et al. 1987; Morava et al. 1996; Rakheja et al. 2004; Shotelersuk et al. 2001; Toriello and Bauserman 1985). Some of the cases were either stillborn (Rakheja et al. 2004) or were detected by ultrasound and because of the severe findings, the pregnancy was terminated (Bachman et al. 1990; Chan et al. 2004). Also a "milder" form of HLS has been reported. For example, Shotelersuk et al. (2001) reported a case that survived for over a month and Aughton and Cassidy (1987) and de Ravel et al. (1999) reported cases that lived for several months. It has been suggested that the less severe cases are also true HLS cases and that the underlying cause of the inconsistency between severe and mild cases is allelic variability (de Ravel et al. 1999; Shotelersuk et al. 2001). Also, Pryde et al. suggested allelic variability for HLS between Finnish and foreign cases (Pryde et al.

1993). In addition, Christensen et al. proposed that acrocallosal syndrome and HLS could be allelic syndromes (Christensen et al. 2000).

2.3.3 Genetics

Visapää and her colleagues assigned the hydrolethalus syndrome locus to chromosome 11q23-25 in Finnish families (Visapää et al. 1999). The initial genome scan study was performed using DNA material from 15 affected individuals and 20 healthy family members from eight HLS families. The critical locus was first assigned to an 8.5 cM interval by linkage analysis and the locus was finally further restricted to a 0.5-1 cM region using linkage disequilibrium and haplotype analyses. In addition, seven HLS cases all from different families and the parents of four of these families were included in the linkage disequilibrium studies. The parents of HLS cases were generally non-consanguineous. Six parents were found to be related, the earliest identified link between ancestors being seven generations old and the most recent link was found in the family where the parents were first cousins. Genealogical studies from 40 families affected by HLS revealed that HLS does not have any specific regional clustering in Finland and that the majority of the great-grandparents' birthplaces are situated in the late settlement area (Figure 3). According to the genealogical studies, one major founding mutation for HLS could be predicted (Visapää et al. 1999), as in several other Finnish syndromes (Peltonen et al. 1995). To assure the strict qualification of HLS cases in this study, all the diagnoses were confirmed by one clinician and all the affecteds in the families represented very typical cases of HLS with the prominent features of the syndrome (Visapää et al. 1999).

2.3.4 Differential diagnostics

There are some syndromes and conditions that have a partially overlapping spectrum of features with HLS but there are also some fundamental differences that separate these syndromes from each other. Since there can be a quite significant phenotypic spectrum inside multiple developmental anomaly syndromes, it can sometimes be difficult to categorize affected patients to some distinct syndrome. The difficulties of differential diagnostics in multiple severe malformation syndromes containing also midline development disturbances have been discussed in several publications, see e.g. (Hennekam et al. 1991; Pryde et al. 1993).

In addition to Meckel syndrome, from which HLS was initially separated, other resembling syndromes include for example orofaciodigital syndrome (OFD) type IV

(Mohr-Majewski or Baraitser-Burn syndrome; MIM 258860) (Toriello et al. 1997), OFD type VI (Varadi-Papp syndrome, MIM 277170) (Doss et al. 1998; Varadi et al. 1980), and acrocallosal syndrome (ACLS, MIM 200990) (Koenig et al. 2002; Nelson and Thomson 1982). In OFD type IV, symptoms include brain abnormalities, minor facial and oral anomalies and variable digital defects such as polydactyly. OFD type IV is suggested to represent genetic heterogeneity among the patients (Toriello et al. 1997). OFD type VI is distinguished from other oral-facial-digital syndromes by metacarpal abnormalities with central polydactyly and by cerebellar abnormalities (Doss et al. 1998). ACLS is characterized by agenesis of the corpus callosum, minor craniofacial anomalies, pre- and postaxial polydactyly and psychomotor retardation (Koenig et al. 2002). In addition to these syndromes (SLOS, MIM 270400) also resemble HLS. These two syndromes are discussed in more detail below.

In 1995, Verloes used a mathematical approach to compare syndromes with complex phenotype and with partially overlapping symptoms by ranking the phenotypic features and using statistical methods to analyze the outcome (Verloes 1995). For this approach, Verloes used a term "numerical syndromology". The syndromes used in the comparisons included hydrolethalus, Smith-Lemli-Opitz, Pallister-Hall, OFD type VI and holoprosencephaly-polydactyly syndromes. He concluded that these syndromes are clearly independent phenotypic entities. Still, as the phenotypic spectrum of these syndromes can vary significantly, the diagnosis of some uncertain cases can be quite difficult.

Pallister-Hall syndrome

PHS is a disorder with the most resemblance to HLS. PHS was first described in the 1980s with several malformations (Clarren et al. 1980; Hall et al. 1980). As in HLS, also in PHS malformation of the brain can be seen, the hallmark feature being hypothalamic hamartoblastomas. Other frequently occurring features are craniofacial anomalies in general as well as micrognathia, polydactyly, defective lobation of the lungs, congenital heart defects and cleft lip or palate (Hall et al. 1980). Skeletal malformations have also been reported (Roscioli et al. 2005). Most of these features can be seen in HLS fetuses, too. In contrast, for example an imperforate anus and renal abnormalities are the features often reported from PHS patients but not seen in HLS. Life expectancy is also higher in PHS than in HLS. The symptoms in PHS can vary from very mild to severe, the patients' life span varying from few months to adulthood. The variance in the phenotypic spectrum is

true for HLS cases, too, but the symptoms are more severe in HLS generally leading to death at the very early stages of life.

The causative gene for PHS is GLI3 at chromosome 7p13, the disease-causing mutations being nonsense and splicing mutations (Johnston et al. 2005; Kang et al. 1997a; Kang et al. 1997b). The mode of inheritance in PHS is autosomal dominant. GLI3 is homologous to the Drosophila cubitus interruptus (ci) gene product (Ci) and acts as a transcription factor in the Sonic hedgehog (SHH) signaling pathway. This pathway contributes to several essential cellular events during fetal development, including development of the neural tube, craniofacial structures, the lung and the limb, among others (Biesecker 2006). Mutations in GLI3 also cause Greig cephalopolysyndactyly syndrome (GCPS, MIM 175700) and thus, PHS and GCPS are allelic syndromes. However, the mutations causing GCPS are partially of different kinds (deletions, chromosomal translocations) and located in a different region than in PHS (Johnston et al. 2005). Johnston et al. also suggested that a functional repressor protein of GLI3 causes PHS, whereas truncated haploinsufficiency of GLI3 would in turn be the cause for GCPS. In addition to PHS and GCPS, also in acrocallosal syndrome at least one case with a mutation in the GLI3 gene has been reported (Elson et al. 2002). As GLI3 has been excluded as the site of mutation in some cases of ACLS, the authors suggested that ACLS may be a heterogeneous group of disorders where the phenotype, in some cases, results from a mutation in GLI3 and represents a severe, allelic form of GCPS (Elson et al. 2002).

Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome

SLOS is an autosomally recessively inherited congenital syndrome with multiple developmental abnormalities first reported in 1964 (Smith et al. 1964). SLOS has a wide spectrum of phenotypic features that vary from mild symptoms with learning and behavioral problems to a lethal malformation syndrome (Hennekam 2005; Porter 2008). Prominent features of the syndrome include microcephaly, micrognathia, growth retardation, holoprosencephaly, ptosis, cleft palate and polydactyly. Because of the variable phenotype, division into a mild (SLOS I) and severe (SLOS II) forms of the syndrome have been suggested (Curry et al. 1987).

SLOS is caused by mutations in the sterol 7-dehydrocholesterol reductase gene (*DHCR7*), which is the last step in the cholesterol metabolism pathway. Over 130 different mutations of *DHCR7* have been so far identified in SLOS patients (Correa-Cerro and Porter 2005; Porter 2008). The mutations cause increased serum levels of 7-dehydrocholesterol and decreased serum levels of cholesterol in patients (Irons et al. 1993; Tint et al. 1994). The relation between the genotype and severity of the symptoms in SLOS is controversial, since reports demonstrating both quite poor

(Correa-Cerro et al. 2005) and quite good (Witsch-Baumgartner et al. 2000) genotype-phenotype correlation in patients have been published. SLOS diagnosis can nowadays be made prenatally by measuring 7-dehydrocholeserol levels in amniotic fluid or chorionic villus samples or alternatively by direct mutation analysis of *DHCR7* (Waye et al. 2007). The possibility for non-invasive diagnosis by maternal urinary steroid level measurement has also been suggested (Jezela-Stanek et al. 2006). Based on genetic studies, SLOS is very rare in Finland (Witsch-Baumgartner et al. 2008).

2.4 Fetal development

2.4.1 General aspects

Human fetal development from a single cell to a living organism is a complex and remarkable phenomenon, guided both by genes and the environment. Fetal development can be divided into three main stages called blastogenesis, organogenesis and fetogenesis. Blastogenesis is the interval of the first four weeks after fertilization, until the neural tube closure. Organogenesis is the stage from the end of blastogenesis to nine weeks of gestation. This is the main stage of organ development. Fetogenesis lasts from week nine until birth, the stage when the fetus has the major organ patterning mainly developed and when the fetus grows in size. Growth of the fetus is fastest in the early stages of fetogenesis (Carlson 2004; Sariola et al. 2003).

Organs start to develop at an early stage of fetal development. For example the brain, eye, heart and gastrointestinal tract start their development in a three week old embryo, the spinal cord and auditory system at three or four weeks, the olfactory, renal and limbs at 4-5 weeks and the respiratory tract and genitalia at five weeks. Based on their complexity, organs take different times to complete their development. For example, the heart is formed at 6 weeks, the face and limbs at eight weeks whereas the structural development of the brain continues until 28 weeks. Organs of course grow in size and mature further *in utero* and also postnatally after their structural development is completed in the fetal period (Carlson 2004; Sariola et al. 2003).

Inductive signaling between tissues is a critical regulator of the development of different organs. For example in the developmental processes of the lung and the kidneys, interaction between the mesenchyme and the epithelium of the tissue is critical for appropriate formation of the organ (Sariola et al. 2003). It is typical of

mesenchyme-epithelium signaling that both tissues participate actively in the signaling events. Signaling continues through the whole organ development and it is mediated through soluble molecules. In order to be able to react correctly to every signal, cells must have the right receptors in their surface to receive the messages. Also, molecules for intracellular signal transduction and target gene expression machinery must be available.

2.4.2 Key molecules and signaling pathways

Normal human development requires the precise functioning and coordination of many complex pathways and signaling cascades. Interestingly, a large proportion of the genes regulating the fetal development are basically the same in different groups of animals. These key molecules are used not only in the early embryonal stage but later in the organ development, as well. Studies of these key molecules in relatively simple organisms such as Drosophila melanogaster (fruit fly) and Caenorhabditis elegans (ground worm) have given us a massive amount of essential knowledge about the molecular cascades required during the developmental processes. Many signals that are essential in the development of vertebrates are the members of the following four families: Hedgehog (HH), Wingless (WNT), fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and transforming growth factor beta (TGF β) (Carlson 2004; Sariola et al. 2003). They can be found in every organ of the developing fetus. It is mostly quite hard to unravel the meaning of a single molecular signal during development since the same signals are used constantly and since the cells express and also receive several signals simultaneously. In addition, different signal pathways cross each other and also affect each other.

In the early development, some of these important molecules are distributed from certain signaling centrals (such as the isthmic organizer and the zone of polarizing activity), which are temporary structures that produce many different kinds of signaling molecules simultaneously and thus affect the formation and differentiation of the surrounding tissues. One crucial group of molecules are the ones that transmit the signaling between cells in the body. This usually leads to activation of the transcription factors that in turn affect the genes that they are targeted to.

2.4.3 Development of the central nervous system

Nervous system development can be divided into the following eight main subsequent stages: 1) induction of neuronal tissue in the ectoderm and patterning, 2) establishment of neuroblasts and their migration, 3) differentiation of neuronal cell

types, 4) axonal guidance, 5) establishment of synaptic connections, 6) regulation of the amount of neuronal cells by apoptosis, 7) further arrangement of synaptic connections, and 8) arrangement of synaptic connections by their activity and usefulness, i.e. synaptic plasticity (Sariola et al. 2003). The most important gene groups of the developmental toolbox used for CNS development include in large part the same groups as mentioned earlier, such as Hedgehog (HH), Wingless (WNT), fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and the Notch families as well as bone morphogenetic proteins, a subclass of TGF β superfamily, see e.g. (Bertrand and Dahmane 2006; Ford-Perriss et al. 2001; Fuccillo et al. 2006; Mehler et al. 1997; Monuki 2007).

Development of CNS starts at the very beginning of embryonic stage when a group of ectodermal cells are induced by the underlying ectoderm (notochord). This event is called primary induction. Induction is a phenomenon where a group of cells coordinate adjacent cells changing their behavior and therefore making them change in some way. Induced neuroepithelial cells then form a thickened neural plate overlying the notochord. The neural plate develops further from the neural groove to the closed neural tube, an event that is assisted by several essential developmental molecules and their gradients (see above). Neural tube closure is complete already on the 28^{th} day after fertilization (Sadler 2005). The brain itself is developed from the dilations processed by the cephalic portion of the neural tube, formed by the migrating neurons that establish different laminar compartments (Bystron et al. 2008).

Cortical lamination is a phenomenon where laminar compartments of the developing brain cerebral cortex with their own, special cell types are formed. Three main types of precursor cells in the early stages of the cortex development have been identified: radial glial cells and short neural precursors in the ventricular zone and intermediate progenitor cells in the subventricular zone (Dehay and Kennedy 2007). The ventricular zone cells are involved in the generation of lower layer neurons, while the cells situated in the subventricular zone generate upper layer neurons (Dehay and Kennedy 2007). Radial glia produced in the ventricular zone provide a ladder system to assist the neurons in their way to the correct compartment in the cortex (Campbell and Götz 2002). However, different neuronal types have been found to use distinct modes of migration in the developing cortex. The early-generated neurons use somal translocation, and pyramidal cells predominantly use glia-guided locomotion. A third mode of migration is used by cortical interneurons. They migrate tangentially into the cortex, then seek the ventricular zone before moving radially to take up their positions in the cortical anlage (Nadarajah and Parnavelas 2002). The mature cortex contains several different layers (Figure 5). The heterogeneous and confusing nomenclature used to describe the developing CNS led a special committee to clarify the sequence of events taking place during cortical
development and this also set the nomenclature used for different compartments (Bystron et al. 2008). Recent studies have however increased our knowledge of new cell types, patterns of genetic expression and additional cellular compartments and thus, some revisions for the committee nomenclature have been suggested (Bystron et al. 2008).



Figure 5. During the cortical lamination, several distinct cellular zones are formed. Modified from (Nadarajah and Parnavelas 2002). VZ, ventricular zone, IZ, intermediate zone, SP, subplate, CP, cortical plate, MZ, marginal zone.

The central nervous system contains more cell types than any other organ in the human body. The overall number of these cells is great, about 10^{11} neurons and 10^{12} glial cells (Diaz 2006). Although the basics of the cell types and their function in the brain is currently known, there still remains the possibility that all of the possible cell types of the brain are not yet identified (Diaz 2006).

The main classes of the cell types in CNS include neurons and glial cells. Neurons and glial cells can be further divided into many subgroups. Neurons can be classified by their structure and function or, for example, based on which neurotransmitter they produce. In addition to neurons, much of the total volume of the brain is made up of cells that support neurons in various ways but which do not carry information themselves. The collective name for these support cells is glial cells and they can be

divided into the groups of oligodendrocytes, astrocytes, and microglia. The word "glia" comes from the Greek word for glue. Glial cells have several different functions in the brain. In addition to support, their functions include transporting nutrients to nerve cells, cleaning up debris and digesting parts of dead neurons. Glial cells also provide insulation to neurons through the production of myelin. These cells are called oligodendrocytes in the CNS. For a general review of glial cells, see e.g. (Ndubaku and de Bellard 2008). Radial glial cells have an important role in key developmental processes of the CNS as precursors during neurogenesis and as mentioned earlier, in the lamination events of cerebral cortex (Campbell and Götz 2002) (Figure 6). Glial cells produced later in CNS development are mainly astrocytes: type 1 in the white matter and type 2 in the grey matter. Microglial cells in the CNS are resident immune cells that regulate and participate in immune responses in CNS tissue (Garden and Möller 2006). They also appear to play an important role during the normal function of the mature nervous system. One special glial cell type is also ependymal cells which give rise to the choroid plexus, a structure located inside the brain ventricles that produces cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (Sariola et al. 2003).



Figure 6. A radial glial cell and a migrating neuron. Modified from www.dls.ym.edu.tw/lesson3/nerv1.htm

2.4.4 Congenital malformations and malformation syndromes

Approximately 2-3% of the living newborns can be diagnosed with at least one congenital malformation. These malformations can range from very mild symptoms to very complex and gross anatomical abnormalities. Only about half of the malformations can be explained by genetic or environmental factors. Estimations of genetic causes cover about 20-30% of the cases from which about 3-10% are due to chromosomal aberrations and 4-8% are of monogenic background. Environmental factors such as teratogens explain roughly 7 to 10% and multifactorial causes 20 to 25% of the malformations (Carlson 2004; Sariola et al. 2003).

The period for most likely susceptibility to abnormal development caused by external factors such as teratogens (e.g. alcohol, drugs, ionizing radiation) is between three and eight weeks of gestation. As mentioned earlier, this is the period when most of the body regions and major organs begin to develop. Developmental abnormalities arising after eight weeks are likely to affect the function of the organ or interaction between them (for example mental retardation) or be related to the growth of already formed body parts. It should be noted, though, that different external factors can influence the fetus in the different developmental stages. Also, different organs have different periods of susceptibility during embryonic development and moreover, the most complex organs such as the brain, show prolonged periods during which they have a high probability of being influenced by these agents (Carlson 2004).

Disorders caused by a genetic factor are naturally inborn, but the onset of the recognizable symptoms can vary significantly from fetal period to adulthood. If we use monogenic disorders of Finnish disease heritage as examples, hydrolethalus, Meckel syndrome and lethal congenital contracture syndrome (LCCS) for instance lead to stillbirth or death already *in utero* or shortly after birth whereas the onset in neuronal ceroid lipofuscinoses (NCLs) can vary from infancy to adulthood depending on the form of the disease (Norio 2003c). In PLOSL (polycystic lipomembranous osteodysplasia with sclerosing leukoencephalopathy), the patients are usually symptomless until 20 years of age (Norio 2003c).

3 AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aims of this study were the following:

- To identify the gene and the mutation(s) causing HLS (I).
- To define the general pathological and detailed neuropathological status associated with a defect in the *HYLS1* gene (II).
- To characterize the function of the HYLS1 protein and to gain insight into the pathogenesis of HLS (I, III).

4 SUBJECTS, MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Families, DNA and tissue samples

The study consisted altogether of 54 Finnish families with 73 suspected HLS cases. The HLS diagnosis was based on ultrasound and/or autopsy findings. We had DNA samples from all the cases and also tissue samples from some of the cases. We also had an opportunity to study 11 foreign families with at least one individual diagnosed or suspected to be an HLS case. In five of these families, only the affected's sample was available. In addition, we had an opportunity to use DNA and tissue samples from fetal control cases aborted for social reasons.

4.2 Ethical aspects

Studies on DNA and tissues of HLS cases and their family members as well as fetal control material were approved by the Ethical Committees of the Joint Authority for the Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa.

4.3 Methods presented in original publications

The methods used in the present study are listed below and described in detail in the original publications (Roman numerals I-III).

Method	Original publication
Antibody production	Ι
Bioinformatic analyses	I, II
Cell cultures, primary and stable cell lines	I, III
Cell transfections	I, III
Cloning of cDNA	Ι
Confocal microscopy	Ι
DNA extraction	I, II
DNA sequencing	I, II
Flow cytometry	III
Fluorescence microscopy	I, II, III
Genotyping	Ι
Haplotype and LD analysis	Ι
In situ hybridization	Ι
Microarray analysis	III
Light microscopy	I, II
Lipid extraction from tissue	III
Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	I, II
Production of transgenic HYLS1 Drosophila	
melanogaster lines	Ι
Proliferation assay	III
Protein detection by immunofluorescence staining	I, III
Protein detection by immunohistochemical staining	II
Protein detection by western blot analysis	Ι
Pulse-chase analysis	Ι
Reverse-transcriptase PCR	Ι
RNA extraction	I, III
Transactivation assay	III

4.4 Methods used in unpublished studies

Sumoylation assay (section 5.1.3)

For studying possible interaction between HYLS1 and SUMO-1 (small ubiquitinlike modifier 1), the overexpression cell model was used. COS-1 cells were seeded onto 10 cm Petri dishes at 1.8 x 10^6 cells per dish and transfected the next day with either wt or mutant human HYLS1 construct alone or together with His-tagged SUMO-1 construct. In addition, HYLS1, SUMO-1 and either FLAG-tagged PIAS1 construct or FLAG-tagged ARIP3 construct were transfected simultaneously. Transfections were performed using the Fugene HD transfection reagent according the manufacturer's instructions. The cells were collected 48 h after transfections in phosphate buffer solution (PBS) containing 20 mM N-ethylmaleimide (NEM). Cell extracts were prepared in buffer containing 2% SDS, 10 mM Tris–HCl pH 8.0, and 150 mM NaCl, then incubated for 10 min at 95 °C, and diluted 1:9 in buffer containing 1× TBS, 10 mM NEM and 1% Triton X-100. The cell lysate was homogenized using a syringe and needle and centrifuged at 16,000 × g for 20 min at 4 °C. A total of 20 µl of the lysate was analyzed using 11% SDS-PAGE and western blotting followed by ECL detection.

Neuropathological study of *D. melanogaster* (section 5.2.3)

The fly strains created in publication I were used to study the neuropathological effects of wt and mutant HYLS1 in *D. melanogaster* model. A new generation of each strain was allowed to hatch after the parents were removed and a subgroup of each population was collected at time points of 0, 15, 30, 35 and 45 days. The flies were kept in $+25^{\circ}$ C and the population in each growth tube was transferred to a new one every two or three days to ensure fresh food supplies. The collected flies were terminated with CO₂, formaline-fixed and cast in paraffine blocks. The blocks were cut into thin slices with a microtome and stained with hematoxylin-eosin. The head sections were examined using an Axioplan 2 imaging microscope.

Cilia staining (section 5.3.3)

For studying the cilia structure of fibroblast cells from HLS fetuses and healthy controls, immunofluorescence staining with acetylated tubulin was used. The cells were seeded onto coverslips in 6-well plates at 1×10^6 cells per well. For immunofluorescence studies, the cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS

(pH 7.3) at room temperature (RT) for 10 min and blocked and permeabilized with 0.2% saponin/0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS. The cells were then incubated with acetylated tubulin as primary antibody for 1 hr in room temperature (RT). After washes, the cells were incubated with secondary antibody for 40 min in RT. After the staining procedure and the last washes, the cells were mounted onto microscope slides and the data was acquired using a Leica TCS SP confocal microscope.

5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1 Identification and characterization of the gene underlying HLS

5.1.1 Defining of the critical genomic region for HLS locus (I)

Before this study, the initial critical genomic region for HLS was mapped to chromosome 11q23-25, the size of the region being 8.5 cM, after which the region could be restricted to a 1 cM region between markers D11S933 and D11S934 (Visapää et al. 1999). In this study, the region could be further restricted to a 904 kb interval using information of the ancestral haplotype and the observed high LD between markers D11S4158 and D11S975. This was done by analyzing 16 Finnish HLS families and four unrelated Finnish HLS cases and using eight markers (D11S1752, D11S933, D11S4158, D11S1896, D11S934, D11S4110, D11S990 and D11S975) over the critical region. In this 904 kb region, the following nine genes with known function were identified: *PKNOX2, FEZ1, EI24, ITM1, CHEK1, ACRV1, PATE, PUS3* and *DDX25* (publication I and Figure 7 on page 44). In addition, one hypothetical transcript, *FLJ32915*, was found. Mutation analyses were performed for all of these genes by sequencing all coding regions and flanking intronic regions using two controls and two affected individuals that were homozygotes for the characteristic haplotype of disease alleles.

Sequencing revealed several SNPs, and these were analyzed in the whole family material. SNPs from eight candidate genes in this critical region were monitored for LD in disease alleles and one major haplotype could be found in all the analyzed affected chromosomes. Based on this analysis the critical region could be further restricted to 476 kb between genes PKNOX2 and DDX25 when ancestral recombinations were observed in five families. One of the SNPs in the predicted transcript FLJ32915 showed a highly significant P-value of $10^{-\infty}$ for LD between allele G and the disease phenotype. All HLS cases were homozygous for the G allele at this SNP, whereas all parental control alleles carried the normal A allele. The four cases without family members were also homozygous for this G allele. This SNP was the only nucleotide change to be completely co-segregating with the disease in the families, thus implying that it actually is the disease-causing mutation for HLS. Additional confirmation for the assumption that this SNP was the disease-causing mutation was provided by the fact that in one of the families, the father of the family was homozygous for all informative markers over the whole critical genomic region except the A to G transition in FLJ32915 for which he was heterozygous.

The nucleotide change found to be causative for HLS was found from a predicted transcript *FLJ32915* and since the transcript was nameless at that time, we named the gene and the gene product *HYLS1* ("hydrolethalus syndrome 1").

5.1.2 The disease-causing mutation in HLS (I)

The disease-causing nucleotide change in *FLJ32915*, now named *HYLS1*, was found to be an A to G transition (c:1166 in cDNA, NCBI code NM_145014) in exon 6 (Figure 7). This point mutation causes one amino acid change in the HYLS1 polypeptide where aspartic acid 211 is changed to glycine (D211G). As is described in section 5.1.3, several studies led to the confirmation that this change is a true mutation.

The homozygous form of this nucleotide change has been found altogether in 64 diagnosed Finnish cases, these cases belonging to 47 families. Of these cases, 36 also had samples of their parents available (25 families), the parents being the heterozygous carriers of the mutation. In addition, we found one suspected HLS case with typical symptoms that was heterozygous for the *HYLS1* mutation. No additional mutations were found in the coding region of *HYLS1*. Because this fetus represents quite a typical HLS case, the possibility exists that this fetus indeed is a true HLS case, the other mutation located outside the *HYLS1* exonic regions. In eight suspected Finnish HLS cases no mutation was found. Since we currently classify only cases with D211G mutation as true HLS cases, these remaining cases might represent some other syndrome resembling HLS or they might have the mutation for example in the regulatory region of *HYLS1* or for example in the intronic region of the genomic DNA. One possibility for the mutation is also a genomic deletion. Unfortunately, since fresh tissue material for these cases was not available, screening the cDNA for the mutations was not possible.

We also had an opportunity to sequence DNA samples from 11 non-Finnish fetuses and newborns with a suspected diagnosis of HLS, but no mutations in the *HYLS1* gene could be found. These cases have been pathologically similar to HLS to some extent, but also differing features have been found. Usually, the cases have had hydrocephalus and polydactyly as frequent findings. Still, it should be noted that these two features are quite common malformations and can be found in several other syndromes in addition to HLS (R. Salonen, personal communication). Also, in many cases, the affected having a foreign background had lived even for several months, whereas all the mutation-confirmed Finnish HLS cases had died at the latest during in the very first hours or days of their lives. This would suggest that the Finnish cases suffer from ultimately severe defects in their vital organs. It has been suggested that the underlying cause of the variability of the phenotype between Finnish and especially milder foreign cases is allelic variability (de Ravel et al. 1999; Pryde et al. 1993; Shotelersuk et al. 2001). In our opinion, though, the foreign cases (especially with the "mild" form of HLS) with no *HYLS1* confirmed mutation(s) might actually represent syndromes resembling HLS but that are in fact genetically different. Of course, this does not exclude the possibility of allelic variability by yet unknown mutations in the regions surrounding *HYLS1*, but getting the answer would require not only thorough sequencing analysis of the identified areas of *HYLS1* but extensive determination and study of the regulatory areas of the gene, as well.

The population frequency of the A to G change was determined using 454 control individuals collected from various regions of Finland and in addition, a control panel of 49 individuals of mixed European descent was used. As a result, 1.1% (2/176) of the individuals originating from the early settlement area in western Finland carried the change, whereas 2.5% (7/278) of the individuals collected from the late settlement area in eastern and central Finland were found to carry this change. No carriers were identified in the European panel of control individuals. The observed carrier frequency in the late settlement area is a bit higher than the expected frequency (2%). This might be explained by the fact that as for most early malformation syndromes, some (maybe uncertain) cases could have been overlooked and remain non-diagnosed as HLS.



Figure 7. Schematic presentation of chromosome 11 and the 904 kb critical region for disease causing mutation in HLS between markers D11S4158 and D11S975. Also, the structure of the *HYLS1* gene with six exons and the causative A to G point mutation in the last exon are shown.

5.1.3 Basic characteristics of the HYLS1 gene and protein (I, unpublished)

The HYLS1 gene

Since the A to G transition in *FLJ32915*, now named *HYLS1*, was found to be a disease-causing mutation in HLS, we wanted to characterize the basic properties of this gene and the gene product.

HYLS1 covers a genomic region of approximately 17 kb with six exons in chromosome 11 (UCSC assembly 2006: chr11:125,258,719-125,275,750). The region of the gene coding for protein is composed of an open reading frame (ORF) of 897 nucleotides and situated entirely in exon 6, resulting in a polypeptide of 299 amino acids. *HYLS1* has several alternative transcripts, all of them having the same conserved translated region coded by exon 6. The most common transcripts are named *HYLS1a* (NCBI: AK127394), containing exons 2, 4 and 6 and *HYLS1b* (NCBI: BQ686872 and CB141176), containing exons 2 and 6. For a detailed picture of the sequence, see Figure 2 in publication I. The most possible promoter sites for HYLS1 were predicted using Web Promoter Scan Service (PROSCAN). According to the results, the two most likely promoter sites could be found from a region 3.4 kb upstream from the first *HYLS1* exon (nucleotides -3382-3133) and inside *HYLS1* in intron 3 (nucleotides 4626-4876).

Although exon 6 is the only protein coding exon in *HYLS1* and alternative splicing most likely does not affect the structure of the produced protein, the other exons might contain essential regulatory information that could have an effect on the expression level of HYLS1 in different tissues and/or developmental stages. For example, a 5' untranslated region can act as an essential regulatory region for transcription or translation in genes with only one protein coding exon, see e.g. (Fukada et al. 2003; Ji et al. 2004). Since the amount of the genes identified in the human genome has turned out to be unexpectedly low, proteome complexity has to be explained through other mechanisms than merely the number of genes. Alternative splicing has been suggested as one of the main sources of the complexity, since half of the human genes have been approximated to be subjected to alternative splicing (Lander et al. 2001; Venter et al. 2001) and it has even been suggested that the majority of human transcripts are alternatively spliced (Graveley 2001). In addition to regulation at the DNA or RNA levels, over 200 different posttranslational modifications have been identified (Banks et al. 2000), these most probably creating variability, too.

When comparing the observed EST (expressed sequence tag) homologies, *HYLS1a* has been identified in several tissues, including the brain, lung, liver, kidney, uterus, breast, placenta, colon and in addition, in pooled germ cell tumors. *HYLS1b* can be found at least in pancreatic carcinoma and liver. We could identify these two most common isoforms when studying the skin fibroblast cell lines' cDNA obtained both from HLS cases and healthy controls. The occurrence of these isoforms were confirmed from a fetal cDNA panel as well as from placental tissue obtained from a healthy control and an affected individual by RT-PCR analyses using primers crossing various *HYLS1* exon boundaries. The observed fragments from PCR analyses corresponded to the expected sizes of *HYLS1a* and *HYLS1b*. In addition,

three other isoforms representing alternative splicing can be found in the NCBI and Celera databases. These three isoforms were not found from our study material. Although these isoforms were not found, it does not exclude the possibility that these isoforms are expressed, but maybe only in restricted stages during fetal development. On the contrary, *HYLS1a* and *HYLS1b* could be expressed through the whole fetal period. In addition to the A to G change, sequencing analysis of the placental RT-PCR products did not reveal any other DNA changes in an affected individual.

Also, northern blot analysis was done of control and affected mRNA in order to monitor the possible expression level changes or splice variants of the *HYLS1* gene in affected individuals. A transcript of approximately 1.7 kb was observed both in samples obtained from control and HLS cases' fibroblasts and no significant difference in the steady state expression level was seen. When studying a commercial human fetal multiple tissue blot, the expression levels of the transcript were found to be highest in the brain, lung, kidney and liver.

The HYLS1 protein

After we had gathered the basic information of the *HYLS1* gene, we also performed several *in silico* analyses for the amino acid sequence of HYLS1. Interestingly, according to the Pfam database, HYLS1 does not possess any other recognizable functional regions than a low complexity region between amino acids 112 and 120. These regions are typical for proteins that are structurally less complex and they have been shown to be functionally important in some proteins (Wan and Wootton 2000; Wootton 1994). Still, they are generally not well understood (Wan and Wootton 2000; Wootton 1994). HYLS1 also lacks any secretory signal or signal peptide. Nevertheless, some differences can be found between wild type (wt) and mutant protein properties *in silico*. When comparing the isoelectric point (pI) values using the Expasy tool, the pI for wt protein was 6.98, whereas for the mutant protein the value was 7.67, this change most probably affecting the solubility of the protein. In addition, the PeptideCutter program estimated an Asp-N endopeptidase cleavage site at polypeptide position 211 for wt HYLS1, whereas this site was altered in the mutant form of the protein.

When comparing amino acid sequence orthologs of HYLS1, we found that the aspartic acid mutated in HLS is conserved across the species from human to C. *elegans* (see Figure 3 in publication I). Surrounding the mutated site, amino acid sequences in general show high conservation. These findings most probably indicate an important role for this mutated site and for the area surrounding it for also protein's stucture and/or function. Aspartic acid is a bulky amino acid with a

negative charge, whereas glycine is the smallest of the amino acids with a neutral charge. Thus, glycine usually enables the polypeptide backbone to make different kinds of turns when folding. Therefore, although the mutation does not cause the protein to be truncated it may cause a severe defect in the correct structure and therefore affect the proper function of the protein.

The D211G change in HYLS1 was predicted to be probably damaging for the protein when the effect of the mutation was analyzed in the PolyPhen program (Polymorphism Phenotyping, http://genetics.bwh.harvard.edu/pph). The classification steps for PolyPhen are benign, possibly damaging and probably damaging, the latter representing the most probability for pathogenicity of the amino acid change. We also analyzed the D211G change with the SIFT program (Sorting intolerant from tolerant, http://blocks.fhcrc.org/sift/SIFT.html) (unpublished data). In this program, substituted amino acids with probabilities <0.05 are predicted to affect protein function and thus, the substitution is considered non-tolerated. As a result of this analysis, the HYLS1 substitution was predicted to affect the protein's function.

When using the SUMOplot program (http://www.abgent.com/tools/sumoplot), wt polypeptide sequence was found to have a high probability for a sumovlation site containing lysine residue two amino acids upstream of aspartic acid 211 in the HYLS1 polypeptide sequence. In the mutated form of the polypeptide, this high probability of the site was lost (unpublished data). Thus, the mutation in HYLS1 might affect the possible sumoylation event. The small ubiquitin-like modifier, SUMO, has been a target of extensive study in the recent past. Although SUMO is related to ubiquitin which primarily targets a substrate for degradation, sumoylation regulates a substrate's functions mainly by post-translational modifications like altering the intracellular localization or protein-protein interactions. These changes in turn affect gene expression, signal transduction as well as genomic and chromosomal stability and integrity. For reviews, see e.g. (Gill 2004; Müller et al. 2001; Zhao 2007). We studied the binding of SUMO with HYLS1 in several experiments using overexpressed cell lines, both with SUMO and HYLS1 alone as well as with its interaction partners PIAS1 or ARIP3 added in the reaction. As a result, no interaction between HYLS1 and SUMO could be seen (unpublished, data not shown).

As HYLS1 was an unknown gene and protein, the *in silico* studies provided essential tools for studying the DNA and polypeptide sequence further. When using computer-assisted programs to predict different aspects of a DNA or polypeptide sequence, one should still note that the results do not provide the definitive truth of the DNA/protein properties and functions. Instead, the *in silico* results give an initial estimation of the feature in question that offers possibilities to perform further functional studies for example in cell or tissue model to verify the results.

As described above, many combined facts support the assumption that the A to G change in *HYLS1* is a disease-causing mutation. Among other *in silico* results, this point mutation was found to cause an amino acid to be replaced by another, a change that is probably damaging to the protein. Also, the high conservation level of the amino acid composition at the mutation site between orthologs most probably indicates an important role for the mutated area in protein's stucture and/or function. To further identify the consequences of the mutation, several functional analyses were performed, the results of which are presented in the following sections.

5.1.4 Developmental expression of *Hyls1* in mouse tissues (I)

Mouse Hyls1 gene

Mouse orthologs of HYLS1 were found as ESTs both from the NCBI and Celera databases. Mouse Hyls1 transcript was confirmed by sequencing of RT-PCR products using post-embryonic cDNA from mouse brain and aligning the resulted sequence with the human HYLS1 sequence. The predicted size for the mouse transcript was 2.1 kb and this was confirmed by northern blot analysis from the embryonic mouse tissue, where a transcript of approximately 2 kb in size was observed. The expression was observed at each embryonic stage in the mouse, the highest expression level was seen at E11. Post-embryonically, the transcript was seen to be expressed from P1 to six months using RT-PCR analysis. Also, the chromosomal position where the mouse *Hyls1* can be found is syntenic to the human 11q24 region, where human HYLS1 is situated. Mouse Hyls1 contains four exons, the ORF being 984 nucleotides long, this frame coding for a predicted polypeptide of 328 amino acids. The similarity of mouse and human ORFs was over 80% both at the mRNA and at the amino acid levels. Exon 4 in Hyls1 is the only translated one with a high similarity in the sequence with exon 6 in human HYLS1. Other Hyls1 exons did not show significant similarity with human HYLS1 exons.

In situ hybridization of Hyls1

To characterize the spatial expression pattern of Hyls1 during mouse development, in situ hybridizations were performed. Embryonic sections of E12.5 and E15.5 mice as well as brain sections of three months old mice were used. At E15.5, expression could be seen in several tissues and structures, expression being particularly high in the developing CNS. In the cephalic region, Hyls1 was detected in the telencephalon, the midbrain and the medulla. Also the ganglionic eminence and the choroid plexus expressed Hyls1 at E15.5. In addition to these structures, expression could be seen in the spinal cord and in the dorsal root ganglia in the nervous system area. Expression could also be seen in the neural layer of the retina. Other structures with *Hyls1* signal were the pancreas, kidney, stomach, intestine, testis and the cartilage tissue of developing limbs. Expression was also strong in the cardiovascular and respiratory organs, especially in the epithelium of the lungs. We also studied E12.5 mouse embryonic sections and as a result, we could see that the expression pattern covered the developing brain, neural tube, olfactory and oral epithelium, lung epithelium, heart, cloaca, urethra and cartilage tissue. In the adult mouse brain, the expression could be detected in the CA1 and CA3 fields of the hippocampus and in addition, in the cortex. For a detailed picture of this expression pattern, see Figure 4 in publication I.

Although there is a possibility that human and mouse HYLS1 proteins may not function identically, the observed broad expression pattern in the mouse correlates well with the phenotype of human HLS cases, the pattern reflecting the affected tissues in HLS. The expression of Hyls1 in many embryonic mouse tissues further strengthens the initial theory of the essential role of HYLS1 in fetal developmental processes in many developing organs, including the CNS.

5.2 Characterization of the HYLS1 protein

5.2.1 Expression and stability (I)

Using computer assisted programs, *HYLS1* was predicted to code for a 299 amino acid with a molecular weight of 34.4 kilodaltons (kDa). To characterize the relative molecular weight of HYLS1 protein, *in vitro* transcription and translation of an *in vitro* rabbit reticulocyte lysate system was used. As a result, both wt and D211G mutant constructs produced polypeptide chains of approximately 39 and 40 kDa. The 40 kDa polypeptide most likely represents the complete HYLS1 polypeptide, whereas the 39 kDa polypeptide most probably results from the use of an alternative translation initiation site 14 amino acids downstream from the first methionine.

Both constructs were also expressed in COS-1 cells after which a western blot analysis was performed. Synthesized polypeptides were detected with the rabbit polyclonal anti-HYLS1 antibody, a peptide antibody that was designed against amino acids 147-161 of the HYLS1 polypeptide. Both wt and mutant forms of HYLS1 showed identical expression of HYLS1 with immunopositive bands of approximately 40 kDa. This result well agrees with the *in vitro* translated polypeptides. The corresponding protein levels between the wt and the mutant HYLS1 form were similar. In addition to

these studies, a pulse-chase analysis was performed in order to study the stability of both polypeptides. The half-lives of both forms were about three hours and this analysis did not reveal any significant difference in the amount of immunoprecipitated polypeptides from wt and mutant constructs.

These analyses show that both wt and mutant forms of HYLS1 are of the same size and that their expression levels and half-lives are identical. Thus, it can be assumed that the mutation in the gene does not lead to degradation of the mutated protein after it has been translated suggesting that the deleterious effect of the mutation is due to altered functional properties of the protein.

5.2.2 Subcellular localization of HYLS1 in a cell model (I)

As HYLS1 was a novel protein, there was no previous information on its subcellular localization in the cells. When the localization was determined with computer assisted programs, SignalP did not predict a nuclear localization signal, but PSORTII analysis predicted a possible nuclear localization for the polypeptide with a probability of 52%.

To elucidate the localization of HYLS1 in a cell model and possible differences between wt and mutant forms of the protein, we transiently expressed HYLS1 in COS-1 cells. Wt and mutant HYLS1 constructs were also tagged with FLAG and Myc tags to confirm the specificity of anti-HYLS1 antibody. COS-1 cells were transfected either with FLAG-tagged, Myc-tagged or untagged wt or mutant HYLS1 constructs. The immunostaining was performed with specific antibodies for the constructs (anti-FLAG-, anti-Myc- and rabbit anti-HYLS1 antibodies, respectively). The synthesized polypeptides were detected with the same rabbit polyclonal anti-HYLS1 antibody as described in section 5.2.1. Localization of the tagged proteins showed the peptide antibody to be specific for HYLS1.

As a result, cells transfected with wt form of the protein showed mostly diffuse cytoplasmic staining, whereas mutant polypeptides largely localized to punctate nuclear inclusions (Table 2, Figure 6 in publication I). The proportion of cells containing solely nuclear inclusions was over 40% in cells containing the mutant form of the protein, compared to under 2% in cells containing the wt form. Cells with both staining patterns were observed approximately in half of the cells in both groups. The dual localization pattern observed here might at least partly explain the *in silico* localization results with no solid result of either nuclear or cytoplasmic compartment in the cell. Differential subcellular localization is also presented in Figure 8.

After observing the differential localization of wt and mutant HYLS1 forms, we were also interested to see whether HYLS1 co-localizes with some of the functional subcellular compartments. This was performed using antibodies having known subcellular localization. We did not see any significant co-localization when comparing the subcellular localization of HYLS1 with H4A3 (lysosomes), 58K (Golgi apparatus) or PDI (endoplasmic reticulum).

construct	cytoplasmic %	cytoplasmic and nuclear %	nuclear %
wt	49.4	48.8	1.8
D211G mutant	6.2	53.0	40.7

Table 2. Distribution of HYLS1 polypeptide in COS-1 cells.

5.2.3 Localization of HYLS1 in *D. melanogaster* model (I)

Subcellular localization of HYLS1 was also studied *in vivo* using a *Drosophila melanogaster* (fruit fly) model, an organism that does not naturally possess HYLS1 in its genome. Wt and mutant constructs encoding human *HYLS1* were overexpressed in the *D. melanogaster* third instar eye discs using a GMR-GAL4 driver. The antibody used here was the same peptide antibody that was also used in overexpression cell studies (described in section 5.2.2). As the antibody proved to be functioning in the overexpression cell model, we were convinced that it can be used also in the characterization of HYLS1 in the transgenic *in vivo* environment. First, western blot analyses were performed to protein extracted from adult fly heads expressing wt HYLS1 and also from control flies. A band of approximately 40 kDa was observed from the head lysates expressing HYLS1, which corresponds to the size of the HYLS1 protein. No band was observed in control head lysates, as expected.

The same cellular localization pattern observed in *in vitro* cell studies was also found when studying the immunostaining of larval eye discs with rabbit anti-HYLS1 antibody for both wt and mutant forms of HYLS1. Cells expressing wt HYLS1 largely showed cytoplasmic staining with some perinuclear inclusions and cells expressing the mutant form revealed a staining pattern of nuclear dot-like structures. Control cells containing no HYLS1 constructs showed no staining as was expected, as *D. melanogaster* does not naturally possess the *HYLS1* gene. These results

provided further evidence of differential localization between wt and D211G mutant HYLS1.

5.2.4 Analysis of nuclear export signal in HYLS1 (III)

In HYLS1, no putative nuclear export sequences could be identified in the amino acid sequence in silico. However, the dual subcellular localization of HYLS1 in the cytoplasm and nucleus studied both *in vitro* and *in vivo* would suggest that it might. in addition to most probably being transported into the nucleus, also be actively exported from it. To test this hypothesis, HEK-293 cells were transfected with constructs expressing either wt or D211G mutant HYLS1 and subjected to leptomycin B (LMB). LBM is known to be an inhibitor of the nuclear export mechanism that CRM1 (or exportin 1) mediates, and CRM1 is one of the best characterized nuclear export receptors. After immunofluorescence microscopy, the proportion of cells exhibiting either a nuclear, cytoplasmic or combined nuclear and cytoplasmic staining pattern was measured. As a result, we observed that the treatment of cells with LMB (15 ng/ml) for 6 hours led to exclusively nuclear localization of both wt and mutant HYLS1 that significantly differed from the untreated state (both wt and mutant treated state versus corresponding untreated state p<0.001 by student's t-test). On the contrary, without LMB treatment most of the wt cells had cytoplasmic localization whereas cells transfected with mutant construct localized both in the nucleus and cytoplasm (student's t-test between untreated wt and mutant p < 0.001). An example result is presented in Figure 8.



Figure 8. HEK-293 cells transfected with a construct expressing wt HYLS1. Before LMB treatment HYLS1 shows predominantly cytoplasmic localization (A), whereas after the treatment HYLS1 is localized in the nuclei (B).

5.2.5 Transactivation assay (III)

On the basis of the results from several functional studies presented in the previous sections, we assumed that HYLS1 might have a role as a transcriptional regulator. To study this hypothesis, we performed a transactivation assay with luciferase reporter to test whether the protein possesses transactivation capacity. For this, constructs expressing either wt or D211G mutant HYLS1 in fusion with the Gal4-DBD as well as the reporter vector pG5LUC were transfected to the SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells. As a result, the wt protein was shown to activate the transcription by 9.4-fold compared to blank vector, whereas the mutant HYLS1 was capable of increasing the transactivation only by 3.4-fold. The difference between vector and wt was statistically significant (p-value <0.01 with student's t-test). The same was true between vector and mutant (p-value <0.05). Also the difference between the wild type and mutant form of HYLS1 was significant with a p-value of <0.01. Therefore, we could conclude that HYLS1 has transactivation capacity and this capacity is significantly decreased in cells containing the mutant form of the protein.

These results combined with the results of the *in vitro* and *in vivo* overexpression model of HYLS1 in cell studies (sections 5.2.2-5.2.4) lend support for the hypothesis that HYLS1 is shuttled between the nucleus and cytoplasm and that it is a protein that probably functions as a transcriptional regulator in cells. At present, it is known that many essential proteins are shuttled between the nucleus and cytoplasm to control their function, these including cell cycle regulators and RNA binding proteins, steroid hormone receptors as well as transport receptors and adaptors (Gama-Carvalho and Carmo-Fonseca 2001). Also, the activities of many transcription factors or cofactors have been reported to be controlled via nucleocytoplasmic shuttling (Gama-Carvalho and Carmo-Fonseca 2001; Smith and Koopman 2004). Abnormalities in the shuttling process may have a role for example in the development of neurodegenerative diseases (Chu et al. 2007). Shuttling proteins usually have both a nuclear localization signal (NLS) and a nuclear export signal (NES) that are used to guide the protein through channels formed by the nuclear pore complexes (NPCs). In some cases, the same amino acid sequence is used for both import and export purposes (Gama-Carvalho and Carmo-Fonseca 2001). Although conserved forms of these signals have been found, some of the signals have remained uncharacterized, see e.g. (Nakielny and Dreyfuss 1999). No known NLS or NES was found in HYLS1 when analyzing the polypeptide sequence in silico.

In addition to being transported between the nucleus and cytoplasm with the aid of carrier proteins, a protein can be passively diffused between these compartments without assisting proteins because of their small size, the size limit varying between 40 and 60 kDa (Terry et al. 2007; Yoneda 2000). In most cases, macromolecules

larger than this are actively transported across the NPC (Terry et al. 2007; Yoneda 2000). Thus, the molecular weight of HYLS1 is at the border of these two options. Nuclear export studies imply that HYLS1 contains a NES since LMB inhibits HYLS1 from getting out of nucleus. Since *in silico* programs did not identify any NES in HYLS1, the possibility exists that this signal could be either non-conservative or situated in a fragmented form in the polypeptide sequence. The mutated region in HYLS1 most probably is either directly part of the NES or the mutation changes the conformation of the protein in a way that the NES becomes inactive. Entrapment of the mutated protein in the nucleus and thus the lack of the normal regulatory mechanism of this transcriptional regulator in cells might explain the diminished transactivation potential of mutant HYLS1, as well.

Based on the results presented above, it can be hypothesized that HYLS1 is part of the transcription regulatory machinery. One explanation for the reduced transactivation potential in mutated HYLS1 could be that the mutated HYLS1 is unable to reach the activity level required for normal function and this leads to disturbed downstream pathway regulation. Another possibility is that the mutant HYLS1 form somehow disturbs normal developmental pathway(s) when it is mutated and for that reason the protein does not function normally. However, additional analyses would be needed to clarify the precise effect the mutation causes in the protein and also, whether HYLS1 directly binds to DNA and thus, acts as an actual transcription factor.

5.3 Unraveling the disease pathogenesis of HLS

5.3.1 Mutation confirmation of study samples (II)

The main focus in publication II was to produce a detailed neuropathological picture of HLS for the first time. Analyses were made from archival autopsy specimens of 21 HLS cases collected during 1981-2008. DNA from all of these cases was isolated and sequenced in order to verify the *HYLS1* mutation status. A special extraction method had to be used since the tissue samples were mostly embedded in paraffin blocks and in addition, the sequencing process had to be done with primer pairs flanking a region of no more than 300 bp in order to be able to get readable DNA stretches for sequencing analysis because the DNA was old and fragmented. In addition to the 21 samples verified to be homozygous for *HYLS1* mutation, one sample was found to be heterozygous for the mutation and in one sample, no mutation in *HYLS1* was found. These cases were excluded from further studies.

5.3.2 General autopsy findings in HLS (II)

The general autopsy findings of 21 mutation-confirmed HLS cases studied in publication II are listed in Table 3.

As it can be seen in the table, the phenotypic spectrum of HLS is notably wide. Some of the findings are very severe already at the early stage of fetal development whereas some cases show only mild symptoms (see Figures 1A and 1B in publication II). The reason for this variation is still uncertain, but it can be speculated whether the spectrum is caused by the mutated form of HYLS1 alone or if there are also additional factors behind the phenomenon. These can include for example possible modifier genes (Genin et al. 2008) and/or external factors, e.g. environmental conditions during fetal development.

All of the cases studied had micrognathia, i.e. a small mandible. Also a lung defect was a common finding with a frequency of 90% of the cases. Cleft lip or palate was found in about half of the cases. Other symptoms to be mentioned are hallux duplex that had been reported in nine cases (42%) and uterus duplex, a rare finding in healthy individuals that was found in over 20% of the cases.

Case	1	2a	3	2b	4	S	6a	٢	8	6	10	6b	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19
Gestational age	12+1	13 + 3	15+6	17+6	18+0	18+1	18+2	18+2	19+0	19+5	19+5	19+6	20+5	24+0	33+5	33+5	34+0	34+0	36+4	36+6	40+6
Survival	ia	ia	ia	ia	ia	ia	ia	ia	ia	ia	ia	ia	ia	ia	6 d	20 min	sb	sb	5 h	$^{\mathrm{sb}}$	1 min
Sex	f	f	f	в	f	В	Ш	в	Ш	Ш	В	f	f	В	f	f	В	f	f	В	Ш
Body length, ch (cm)	8	10	17	20	19	22	17,5	20,5	20	22	25	22	25	19,5	42	35,5	45	47	48	45	49
Body weight (g)	6	31	103	210	160	315	149	209	323	245	250	170	360	245	2326	1162	2520	2520	2695	2050	3864
Cleft lip/palate	+	,			+	,	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	,		+	+			nr
Small mandible	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Polydactyly of fingers	-/-	-/-	+/-	-/-	+/+	+/+	+/+	-/-	-/-	-/-	-/-	+/+	+/+	-/-	+/-	-/+	+/+	+/+	-/-	-/-	-/-
Polydactyly of toes	-/-	+/+	+/+, hd	-/-	+/+, hd	++/+	-/+	-/-	+/+, hd	+/+, hd	+/+, hd	+/+, hd	+/-	+/+, hd	-/-	+/+, hd	+/++	+/+, hd	-/-	-/-	-/-
CHD	,	,			ı		+		+	n		nr	+	+	,		+	,		+	
Anomalous tongue	,	+	ı	+	ı	+	+	,	ı	+	·	+	+	+	+	,	·	+	,	+	ī
Abnormal larynx/trachea	,	,	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lung defect	,	,	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Uterus duplex												+		+	+	+		+			
Cai mu	ses are sl; hd = ltiple e	arrang hallux: xtra to:	ed acco : duplex es; nr =	rding to ;; chd = not rep	o their g congen orted	estation ital hea	ial age. Irt defe	$\frac{2}{3}a$ & ct; $+ = ct;$	2b and 6 abnorm	áa & 6b al findii	are sibli ug positi	vely ide	= induc ntified	ced abor ; - = abr	tion; s normal	b = still finding	oorn; c not pre	h = crov csent; +	-uw +		5 Results and Discussion

THL — Research

Table 3. General pathological findings in HLS cases. Modified from Table 1 in publication II.

The Molecular Basis of Hydrolethalus Syndrome

5.3.3 Macroscopic neuropathological picture of HLS (II)

Major CNS findings in HLS cases are presented in Table 4. The highly characteristic finding was a hydrocephalus with unique features in which the lateral ventricles opened into an interhemispheric space that was filled with cerebrospinal fluid. This kind of hydrocephalus was seen in 17 of 21 cases. A constant and a hallmark finding was a special kind of occipitoschisis, the cleft extending from the foramen magnum to form a keyhole-shaped opening in the skull base (Figure 9A). Sometimes, the cerebellum or the meninges bulged through the opening in the neck beneath the intact skin. An "open-book" phenomenon was a typical finding, formed by the separated cerebral hemispheres that were lying on the bottom of the skull (Figure 9B). A large amount of cerebrospinal fluid above was discovered especially in the cases born in the second or third trimesters of pregnancy. The upper midline structures, septum pellucidum, corpus callosum, and fornicles were absent.

Hydrocephalus is one of the most common malformations with an estimated incidence of 1 in 1500 births (Zhang et al. 2006) and there are many different possibilities for the cause. Most cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) is produced by a highly vascular in-growth through the ependymal lining of the brain ventricles known as the choroid plexus (CP) (for a review, see e.g. (Brodbelt and Stoodley 2007). In addition to its function as the producer of CSF, CP is an important interface between the peripheral blood and CSF. It has been suggested that CP is also involved in cell growth, axon guidance and migration of neurons in CNS via the polypeptides it produces (Emerich et al. 2005). It has also been shown that hydrocephalus in rats impairs the cortical development of the brain, the results suggesting that the circulating CSF and its associated factors are essential for development of the neural tube during embryonic development (Emerich et al. 2005). As hydrocephalus is one of the hallmark features in HLS, it would be interesting to study the possible role of excess CSF in the pathogenesis of the syndrome. Hydrocephalus can form, for example, due to an imbalance between the production and resorption of CSF or if its circulation is blocked (Carlson 2004). The precise mechanism of hydrocephalus in HLS or whether it is a primary or a secondary effect of HYLS1 malfunction is not currently known. In our in situ hybridizations performed using embryonic mouse sections (publication I), we could see a specific staining of CP in mouse brain. This result might indicate that HYLS1 expressed in CNS has a role in the production of CSF in the brain.

Case	1	2a	3	$\mathbf{2b}$	4	S	6a	٢	8	6	10	6b	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19
Macroscopic findings																					
Brain weight (g)	nr	4	nr	28	16	nr	nr	40	nr	9	35	nr	40	nr	206	153	146	nr	249	265	286
Hydranencephaly/anencephaly	ı	ı	ı	ī	ı	ī	hyd	ı	ı	hyd	ī	hyd	ī	an	ı	ı				ī	
Hydrocephalus/"open-book"	+	+	+	+	+	+	pu	+	+	pu	+	pu	+	pu	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Olfactory aplasia	+	+	+	+	+	+	pu	+	+	pu	+	pu	+	pu	+	+	+	nr	+	+	+
Callosal agenesia	+	+	+	+	+	+	pu	+	+	pu	+	pu	+	pu	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Fused thalami	+	+	+	+	+	+	pu	+	+	+	+	pu	+	pu	+	+	+	+	'n	+	+
Hypothalamic hamartoma/bulging	-/-	-/-	+/-	+/-	+/-	-/-	pu	-/-	+-	pu	-/-	pu	+/-	pu	+/-	-/+	-/+	-/+	+/-	-/+	-/+
Occipitotemporal hypoplasia	+	+	+		+	+	pu	+	+	pu	+	pu	+	pu	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Infratentorial hypoplasia	+	+	+		+	+	pu	+	+	pu	+	pu	+	pu	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Occipitoschisis/"key-hole"	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	pu	+	+	+	nr	+	+	+
Microscopic findings																					
Leptomeningeal heterotopia	ı		+		ī	+	pu	+		pu	+	pu	+	pu	+	+	+	nr	+	+	+
Polymicrogyria	+	+	+	+	+	+	pu	+	+	pu	+	pu	+	pu	+	+	+	nr	+	+	+
Lissencephaly II	ı	ı	ı	+	ı	+	pu	+	+	pu	+	pu	+	pu	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Neuroepithelial rosettes	+	+	+	ı		+	pu		+	pu	+	pu		pu	+	+	+	nr	+		+
Periventricular heterotopia	ı	·	·	+	+		nd			pu		nd		pu	+		+	nr	+		
The case order is the same as i	in Tal	ble 3;	 +	abnor	mal fi	nding	; posit	lively	ident	tified;	- = a	pnorm	nal fin	ding 1	not pre	esent;	n = n	not de	tectab	le;	
nr = not reported																					

Table 4. Major CNS findings in HLS cases. Modified from Table 2 in publication II.



Figure 9. A) A key-hole like opening in the skull base of an HLS case of 33^{rd} gestational week. B) Abnormal "open-book" brain structure of an HLS case of 13^{th} gestational week.

Ependymal cells lining the brain ventricles contain motile cilia, but their biological function has remained obscure. Ibañez-Tallon et al. (2004) have reported that ependymal cilia generate a laminar flow of cerebrospinal fluid through the cerebral aqueduct. They proved that the axonemal dynein heavy chain gene (*Mdnah5*) was specifically expressed in ependymal cells and that it is essential for ultrastructural and functional integrity of ependymal cilia. In *Mdnah5*-mutant mice, a lack of ependymal flow caused closure of the aqueduct and formation of hydrocephalus during mouse brain development (Ibanez-Tallon et al. 2004). According to these findings, cilia might have an essential role in cerebrospinal fluid regulation.

The macroscopic brain architecture in HLS was also defective. The gyration of the brain was often grossly abnormal in the frontoparietal regions, and the temporal and occipital regions were found to be severely hypoplastic. Normally developed amygdala or hippocampi could not be found. A narrow cleft at the junction of thalami and rostral mesencephalon was identified, this probably representing a hypoplastic third ventricle. The brainstem and cerebellum were hypoplastic. The mesencephalon was the most normal-appearing region of the brainstem. The cerebellum was found to be abnormally small.

A very interesting finding was a polyploid hypothalamic hamartoma that was observed in several cases. These were of considerable size in some of the cases that were born in the last trimester of the pregnancy. In the early fetal cases, the hamartoma was more difficult to observe and in some cases, only a bulging of the hypothalamic plate region could be seen. According to the numerical syndromology studies Verloes have reported (Verloes 1995), three non-Finnish cases (Anyane-Yeboa et al. 1987; Hingorani et al. 1991) classified as HLS all also had a hamartoblastoma finding in addition to other malformations similar to HLS. This would be an interesting small detail to be discussed when possible phenotypic borders are set for the foreign suspected HLS cases.

In four of the cases (cases 6a, 6b, 9, and 12 in publication II), the main macroscopic finding was anencephaly (one case) or hydranencephaly (three cases) instead of the usually found "open-book" hydrocephalus. Two of the fetuses with hydranencephaly were siblings (cases 6a and 6b). Alobar or semilobar holoprosencephaly was not found in this study; in the HLS cases a complete interhemispheric fissure could always be observed, indicating hemispheric cleavage. At the moment, it is not known why some of the HLS cases have anencephaly or hydranencephaly instead of the "open-book" appearance in the brain.

Cilia in HLS cells (unpublished)

Cilia are microtubule-based hair-like organelles extending from the cell surface of almost all polarized cell types of the human body, the amount of cilia ranging from one to hundreds per cell; for a review, see e.g. (Fliegauf et al. 2007). As mentioned in the previous section and as discussed in several recent reports, cilia are proven to be highly essential structures in several body functions, cerebrospinal fluid regulation as one example (discussed above). Evidence about cilia being also an important part of central signaling mechanisms, including the SHH signaling pathway, have been reported (Fliegauf et al. 2007). The SHH pathway will be discussed further in section 5.3.7. As the normal fetal developmental events, for example the formation of left-right asymmetry, is also highly dependent on the normal ciliary function and since HLS resembles Meckel syndrome, another lethal malformation syndrome of the fetal period in which the cilia formation is severely disturbed in mutant cells (Kyttälä et al. 2006; Tallila et al. 2008), we performed immunofluorescence staining using skin fibroblasts from HLS cases and healthy controls in order to compare the formation of the cilia between the cell groups. The initial results showed that in contrast to Meckel syndrome, both the wt and HLS mutant cells contain cilia (Figure 10) (unpublished data). However, we cannot exclude the possibility that there is a defect of cilia to some degree in HLS cells. For example, in the C. elegans animal model of another ciliary disease called the Bardet-Biedl syndrome (MIM 209900), the cilia are somewhat visible both in control and mutant cells but their structure is abnormal in mutant cells (Li et al. 2008). Thus,

more studies would be needed to find out whether detailed cilia formation is disturbed also in HLS.



Figure 10. Skin fibroblast cells from both a healthy control (A) and an HLS fetus (B) show cilia staining (arrows).

5.3.4 Microscopic neuropathological picture of HLS (II, unpublished)

In addition to macroscopic examination of the HLS fetuses, a detailed microscopic study of the samples was performed using immunohistochemical stainings.

When studying the cerebral cortex histologically, it was found to be immature with polymicrogyric and lissencephaly type 2 –like areas. Disorganized neuroblastic rosettes were also observed (Figure 11A) as were irregular and disrupted bundles of radial glial structures (Figure 11B). Ectopic neuroblastic rosettes could also be frequently observed under the cortical region, with a quite high proliferation rate when using MIB-1 staining. As an explanation for these rosette structures, we hypothesized that they could represent aberrant miniature "neural tubes", caused by an abnormal signal promoting the development of the dorsal neural tube in these immature and disorganized regions of the fetal brain.

Calretinin positive neuronal clusters were prominent in the superficial cortical areas. Because these positive cells also expressed reelin, they can be considered to be Cajal-Retzius cells. Reelin, a protein secreted by Cajal-Retzius cells, is essential for completion of neuronal migration and cortical lamination. Abnormal amount, clustering and persistence of these cells have been reported in cases of polymicrogyria and this phenomenon is probably common in disorders related to defective neuronal migration (Eriksson et al. 2001). Another interesting aspect is that according to some studies with mouse models, the normal function of GLI3 protein has been demonstrated to be essential for correct cortical lamination (Friedrichs et al. 2008; Theil 2005). This fact combined with the disturbed cortical structure in HLS fetuses might suggest that HYLS1 functions using a similar mechanism as GLI3.

The hypothalamic hamartomas mostly consisted of neuronal cells, but also some glial cells were seen. In addition, some smaller, probably immature cells and neuropil were seen. Quite normal looking, although fragmented, choroid plexus structures were seen in many cases at the basal corners of the open interhemispheric space, and also often in the region of the fourth ventricle. The cerebellar cortex showed narrowing of all its layers. The basis of the pons was histologically severely atrophic and defects were also seen in the brain stem area.

The histology of the spinal cord was studied in four cases (cases 2b, 9, 15 and 17 in publication II). The central canal was slit-like in the cervical part and the posterior columns were hypoplastic. One spinal cord was bifid in the ventral part, one had a dorsal hamartomatous bulging in its cervical part and two spinal cords had double central canal in the lumbar region. The motor columns were found to be quite normally populated.



Figure 11. A) Immature and disorganized neuroblastic rosettes (arrows) were observed in the cerebral cortex of an HLS fetus at the 17th gestation week. B) Also irregular and disrupted bundles of radial glial structures (arrow) could be seen in the same fetal sample.

Interestingly, in microarray analysis (see section 5.3.5), the neuropilin 2 (NRP2) gene was found to be downregulated by over 3-fold in HLS cells when compared to control cells. Neuropilins are found to function as receptors for some of the semaphorins, whereas semaphorins act as chemorepulsive signals in interneuron migration. Marin et al. used a mouse model to demonstrate that interneurons expressing neuropilins avoid entering the striatum, a subcortical part of the telencephalon, because of this repulsive signal and are thus directed to the cortex (Marin et al. 2001). Loss of neuropilin function, in turn, increases the number of interneurons that migrate into the striatum. Marin et al. concluded that their observations reveal a mechanism by which neuropilins mediate sorting of distinct neuronal populations into different brain structures, and provide evidence that, in addition to guiding axons, neuropilins also control neuronal migration in the central nervous system. Therefore, in the absence of neuropilins, the correct migration pattern of interneurons could also be compromised in the brains of HLS cases. Thus, the expression array finding nicely binds with the disrupted cortical patterning observed in our studies of brain architecture.

In conclusion, the pattern of brain pathology found in the HLS cases described above clearly belongs to the midline patterning defects. The pattern seems to be unique for the hydrolethalus syndrome, combining the features of disturbed neurulation, forebrain patterning, and migration. As the SHH signaling pathway plays an essential part in fetal midline development, it is tempting to hypothesize that defects in HLS are caused by a defect in this pathway, too. Currently, additional analyses would be needed to confirm this hypothesis. The SHH pathway will be discussed further in section 5.3.7.

Fly model of HLS neuropathology (unpublished)

In addition to characterization of the human fetuses affected with HLS, a *Drosophila melanogaster* model of HLS generated earlier was used to determine whether any neuropathological changes similar to those seen in humans could be replicated when studying neural structures of flies expressing either wt or mutant forms of HYLS1 (unpublished, data not shown). HYLS1 was directed to be expressed in either eye retina with the gmr fly line or in CNS with the elav fly line using the GAL4-UAS system (St Johnston 2002). As a result, no significant differences between wt and mutant flies were found. Some vacuolar structures of the eye and the CNS were observed in mutant flies, but this could be due to the strong overexpression of HYLS1 in these structures in some of the fly lines, rather than a specific indication of altered HYLS1 function.

5.3.5 Genome-wide gene expression analysis (III)

Although *HYLS1* was suggested to encode a transcriptional regulator, the exact information of the gene and the protein function was unclear. To gain additional clues via cellular pathways, we performed a genome-wide gene expression analysis of fetal fibroblast cell lines (control N=4, HLS N=3) to obtain novel data on cellular pathways influencing the HLS pathogenesis. For the analysis, we used the genome-wide Affymetrix array system. After the chip data was initially analyzed, we ended up with altogether 802 transcripts and from this group we chose a subgroup of these as statistically significant to be analyzed further.

Several pathways were found to be significantly differentially expressed between the control and HLS cells (Figure 12). When studying the whole data set, the difference in the amount of expression of the transcripts varied from -8.02 to +13.79. For the whole list of regulated genes, see Supplementary Table 1 in publication III. After examination of the gene lists with the Webgestalt program, many of the upregulated transcripts were found to be associated with the cell cycle regulatory cascades and with specific signal transduction pathways. The downregulated transcripts fell into the general category of lipid metabolism.

The most upregulated genes inside the groups cell cycle regulation and signal transduction included dual specificity phosphatase 6 (*DUSP6*), platelet-derived growth factor alpha polypeptide (*PDGFA*), and mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 5 (*MAP3K5*). The fold-changes were 7.06, 3.76 and 2.92, respectively. Other interesting upregulated genes were for example cyclin D1 (*CCND1*, fold-change 2.91), fibroblast growth factor 5 (*FGF5*, 2.81) and CASP8- and FADD-like apoptosis regulator (*CFLAR*, 2.63). The downregulated genes related to lipid metabolism included like-glycosyltransferase (*LARGE*, fold-change -3.54) stearoyl-CoA desaturase (*SCD*, -3.50), acetyl-Coenzyme A acetyltransferase 2 (*ACAT2*, -3.02), low density lipoprotein receptor (*LDLR*, -2.83), 7-dehydrocholesterol reductase (*DHCR7*, -2.53) and 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-Coenzyme A synthase 1 (*HMGCS1*, -2.20) among others. Downregulated genes related to axon guidance included spondin 2 (*SPON2*, -7.15) and neuropilin 2 (*NRP2*, -3.19). These findings led to subsequent analyses that are discussed in sections 5.3.6 and 5.3.7.

As the analyses were performed using skin fibroblast, they might not reveal all the essential pathways defective in the CNS and therefore, it would be interesting to use cell lines of neuronal cell populations, too. Unfortunately, an insufficient amount of the neuronal cell lines was available for these analyses. However, the findings acquired using the fibroblast cell lines provide us with useful additional clues for the process of unraveling the HYLS1 function.



Figure 12. Most of the upregulated pathways (A) in HLS fibroblast cells are related to cell cycle regulation and signal transduction events while the downregulated pathways (B) are mostly involved in lipid metabolism. Significantly regulated pathways are marked with a gray background. Modified from the Webgestalt program output.

5.3.6 Cell proliferation rate and the amount of apoptosis (III)

In the gene expression analysis, we could see upregulation of several genes involved in cell cycle events and thus, we wanted to study the cell cycle rate in fetal cells. We had an opportunity to cultivate both HLS and control cells of fetal neuronal progenitor cell origin. The proliferative activity of HLS and control neuronal progenitor cells was detected by measuring the incorporation of bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) and the proliferating cells were identified by immunocytochemistry. The result of this assay showed that the proliferation rate of the neural progenitor cells was significantly elevated in the HLS cells when compared with the control cells. The amount of the proliferation was 7.9% in HLS cells whereas only 1.7% in control cells. Student's t-test showed a statistically significant result for this study with a pvalue of <0.001.

In agreement with the elevated cell cycle rate in neuronal cells, the microarray analyses showed that for example the *CCND1* gene was upregulated almost by 3-fold in HLS fibroblasts. *CCND1* is an essential regulator of cell cycle events and when the expression level of *CCND1* is abnormal, it can be part of the cancercausing events in tissues (Li et al. 2006b; Tashiro et al. 2007). Although tumour predisposition would be impossible to monitor in HLS cases, the possibility exists that the aspect of elevated cell cycle rate might at least partly explain the hamartoma findings in the brain of HLS fetuses. An interesting finding in the microarray study was also the upregulation of the thrombospondin 1 (*THBS1*) gene at the same time of *CCND1* upregulation, since CCND1 is known to act as an inhibitor of THBS1 (Li et al. 2006a). A possible explanation for this phenomenon could be that due to the initial upregulation of *THBS1* the level of *CCND1* is also elevated to counteract the inhibitory effect of THBS1 at the protein level, or on the other hand, that the cells are reacting to *CCND1* upregulation by also producing more *THBS1*.

In addition to the proliferation assay, apoptosis was measured from the progenitor cells by Annexin staining and using flow cytometry. As a result, the amount of apoptosis in control cells was on average 25.6% while in HLS cells the apoptosis amount was only 8.7%. In conclusion, the apoptosis rate in HLS patient neural progenitor cells was highly decreased, student's t-test giving a statistically significant result (p<0.05). The difference in necrotic cells between the control and patient cell samples was not significant.

Remarkably, HLS neuronal progenitor cells showed a significantly decreased amount of apoptosis and increase in the proliferation rate. Finding of the reduced apoptosis rate is highly interesting because apoptosis is an essential and precisely controlled phenomenon of controlled cell death both in fetal development

(developmental programmed cell death) and in adulthood (homeostatic programmed cell death) (Buss et al. 2006). Apoptosis is used for example in sculpting the shapes of developing organs, like creating gaps between the digits in the limbs and also in the regulation of the amount of cells in the brain. According to an accepted theory, populations of neurons are produced in excess they then compete against each other for a limited supply of survival promoting trophic factors produced by their targets (Buss and Oppenheim 2004; Hua and Smith 2004). When creating animal models with a suppressed apoptosis rate, in many cases genetic reduction or elimination of cell death led to embryonic mortality or gross anatomical malformations, in some cases probably due to the continued proliferation of undead cells (Buss and Oppenheim 2004). This evidence nicely fits with the reduced amount of apoptosis in HLS cells and with the dramatic phenotype of the CNS and the other malformations observed in HLS. Still, the relationship between an elevated proliferation rate and the reduced rate of apoptosis needs to be studied further. It would be beneficial to clarify whether one of these phenomena is the primary and the other secondary symptom occurring during the abnormal brain development in HLS. In order to explain the interaction of these findings and to understand the mechanism causing the severe malformations in the brain, it is essential that the common denominator for all these findings could be found in the future.

5.3.7 Lipid metabolism (III)

Cholesterol level analysis

Since the gene expression analysis showed downregulation of genes involved in lipid metabolism, especially related to the cholesterol pathway, we wanted to see whether the lipid levels between the HLS and control samples differed from each other. We had an opportunity to use liver samples collected at the autopsies from two controls and from three HLS fetuses. After the lipids were extracted from the cells, the concentrations of cholesterol, phospholipids and triglycerides were determined. As a result, the cholesterol levels in the liver tissue in HLS fetuses were elevated by an average of 25.3% (p<0.01 by student's t-test) when compared to control samples. There was no significant difference between the two groups in phospholipid or triglyceride levels (p>0.05). This result suggests that there exists a disturbance in the hepatic sterol balance in the liver cells of HLS fetuses. This result is also consistent with the microarray analysis findings where differential expression in lipid metabolism pathway between the controls and the HLS cases was observed.

In Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome (SLOS), mutations in *DHCR7* lead to increased levels of 7-dehydrocholesterol and decreased cholesterol levels in patient serum. In

our gene expression arrays (section 5.3.5), *DHCR7* was downregulated almost by 3fold when compared to the control cells and in addition, increased cholesterol levels were observed in HLS liver samples. The microarray analysis also revealed other genes involved in the cholesterol metabolism such as *ACAT2*, *HMGCS1* and *LDLR* to be downregulated, in addition to *DHCR7*. These results lend support for the theory that in HLS fetuses, cholesterol is accumulated in the liver and this in turn would cause feed-back downregulation of these genes involved in the cholesterol metabolism. Another possibility would be receptor-mediated endocytosis of cholesterol in the form of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) particles from the circulation.

An interesting aspect is that the recent studies have shown that cellular lipid rafts have many essential functions and among others, they play a critical role in the signal transduction events of the cells (Korade and Kenworthy 2008). In our study, the group of genes representing the function in signal transduction were upregulated. This finding compared with lipid rafts and lipid metabolism nicely binds the up- and downregulated pathways together. Further studies would be needed to elucidate whether disturbed HYLS1 function and thus, also abnormal cholesterol metabolism, might have an effect in lipid raft composition and further, in signal transduction, too.

In the course of diagnosing SLOS, it has been reported that in addition to invasive methods to confirm the diagnosis of the fetus, also a non-invasive method which measured maternal urinary steroid levels (Jezela-Stanek et al. 2006) could be an option for initial analysis for the syndrome. It would be fascinating if the same kind of method could also be applicable in the initial analysis of HLS, especially if only mild symptoms can be observed in ultrasound scan.

Cholesterol, Hedgehog signaling pathway and developmental disorders

As HLS presents several defects in development, most of them belonging to the field of midline patterning defects, it would be interesting to consider a possible connection between the Hedgehog signaling pathway and HYLS1. The Hedgehog (HH) family of proteins is one of the key protein families in fetal development. This entity is currently widely studied; for reviews, see e.g. (Cohen 2003; Varjosalo and Taipale 2008). Pathways related to the members of this protein family pattern almost every aspect of the vertebrate body plan. The use of a single morphogen for such a wide variety of fuctions is possible because cellular responses to HH depend on the responding cell type, the dose of HH received, and the time cells are exposed to HH (Varjosalo and Taipale 2008). One of the pathways belonging to this signaling family is named after its critical protein Sonic hedgehog (SHH). Regulation of this pathway in mammals leads to the activation and repression of target genes by the glioma (GLI) transcription factors GLI1, GLI2 and GLI3. Abnormalities of the SHH
pathway lead to several human diseases, including birth defects and cancers. During embryonic development, the *SHH* gene is expressed in several places including the notochord, the floorplate of the neural tube, the brain, the zone of polarizing activity in the developing limbs, and the gut (Villavicencio et al. 2000). Mutations of *SHH* in human have been reported to cause holoprosencephaly (Monuki 2007; Roessler et al. 1996) and also to impair neural patterning activity (Schell-Apacik et al. 2003).

Comparing HLS with PHS and SLOS is of special interest since the pathways where the disease-causing genes are functioning are known in PHS and SLOS. PHS is caused by mutations in the *GLI3* gene, which is an essential transcription factor functioning in the SHH pathway. The defective gene in SLOS is *DHCR7*, and its gene product is an important part of cholesterol biosynthesis. Since the Hedgehog protein itself is dependent on a cholesterol residue in processing its final structure (Cooper et al. 2003), DHCR7 might indirectly take part in regulating the function of the SHH pathway. Interestingly, *DHCR7* and *SHH* are are reported to be coexpressed during midline development in *Xenopus* embryos (Koide et al. 2006).

Since PHS and SLOS share several similar features with HLS there is a possibility that HYLS1 is involved in similar kinds of molecular pathways as proteins behind these syndromes and thus, it is tempting to create a hypothesis where HYLS1 directly or indirectly affects the function of the SHH signaling pathway. Since HYLS1 has significant transactivational capacity it could, like GLI3, function as a transcriptional regulator in some stage of SHH pathway. On the other hand, as cells derived from the HLS fetuses show downregulation of several genes related to lipid metabolism and as cholesterol is needed for the proper function of the SHH protein, HYLS1 could have an indirect effect on the SHH pathway functioning via the cholesterol metabolism pathway instead of being directly part of the SHH pathway. This is an interesting matter to be studied further. However, there is a drastic diffence between these syndromes and HLS this being that HLS individuals confirmed to have the Fin_{major} mutation have lived at most for some days, whereas individuals affected with either PHS or SLOS can survive even to adulthood. This would be another big question which needs to be elucidated.

In addition to our hypothesis, also other groups have discussed about the possibility of some kind of relationship between HLS and the SHH pathway. Rakheja et al. published a case report where they had studied the sterol levels using a liver sample of a suspected HLS fetus and they concluded that HLS is not caused by a defect in post-squalene cholesterol biosynthesis (Rakheja et al. 2004). Unfortunately, at the time the study was published, the causative mutation for HLS was not yet known and thus, there is no proof whether this case truly represented HLS or not. Nevertheless, Rakheja et al. discuss the possibility that the gene underlying HLS does not affect normal post-squalene cholesterol biosynthesis but it is still part of the

SHH pathway and the mutated gene in HLS might be situated elsewhere in this pathway. After the HYLS1 mutation was published, Castori et al. suggested an involvement of a possible common signaling pathway between HLS and holoprosencephaly-diencephalic hamartoblastoma, an entity of the HLS-resembling symptoms where SHH signaling network could play a role in the pathogenesis (Castori et al. 2007).

6 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

During this study, the gene and the protein underlying HLS, a severe fetal malformation syndrome, were identified and characterized. Also several functional analyses were performed to further unravel the pathogenesis of HLS. As the point mutation in the *HYLS1* gene leading to one amino acid change in the protein can cause such a severe phenotype as in this syndrome, the outcome of the amino acid change itself must have drastic consequences in the protein structure and/or in the function of the protein. Further, HYLS1 must have an essential and central role in one or several pathways directing the correct embryonic and fetal development in humans. Most probably, the underlying cause for such a severe syndrome containing several malformations is a cascade phenomenon where the mutated protein causes abnormal events in one or several pathways; this further leads to defects in downstream pathways, as well. It should also be noted that HYLS1 might have different functions depending on the tissue and/or the developmental stage it is expressed in.

The results of this study have provided significant new information on the molecular and cellular defects that HYLS1 mutation causes during embryonic and fetal development. The study also unraveled important aspects of the HYLS1 function itself, and based on the results, the conclusion that HYLS1 is a transcriptional regulator, which is transported between the cell nucleus and cytoplasm could be drawn. These findings will form a basis for future studies of HLS. Although being a rare syndrome, the results of the multiple analyses reported in this thesis offer useful information about the molecular events and pathways, the proper function of which are required in normal embryonic and fetal development, too. The underlying mechanism and the pathway in which HYLS1 functions, as well as the interaction partners it functions with, would be important and interesting to study in the future.

It would be interesting to further delineate the effects of the abnormal cholesterol metabolism in HLS cases and the effect of this phenomenon on cellular events. Another intriguing aspect for future studies would be the characterization of even minor malformations possibly appearing in *HYLS1* mutation carriers. Although when the disease is transmitted autosomal recessively it is thought that the carriers are healthy, some subtle findings occurring among carriers have been discussed in the course of some syndromes. Since the phenotypic spectrum in HLS is so wide, it would be also fascinating to determine the external factors possibly affecting the phenotype of HLS during fetal development, such as the sterol levels of mothers during pregnancy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the National Public Health Institute (2003-2008) and at the National Institute for Health and Welfare (2009), Helsinki. Director General of the institutes Pekka Puska, and the head of the Department of Molecular Medicine Docent Anu Jalanko are acknowledged for providing excellent research facilities.

This study has been financially supported by the Finnish Academy, the Sigrid Juselius foundation and the University of Helsinki. The Helsinki Biomedical Graduate School is thanked for the financial and educational support.

I would like to express my gratitude to the HLS families for their kind contribution in this study.

Professors Anna-Elina Lehesjoki and Raili Myllylä are sincerely thanked for reviewing my thesis and for their helpful comments to improve the content of it. I am also grateful to my thesis committee members Docents Kirsi Sainio and Aija Kyttälä for good advice and encouragement during this study. Professor Katarina Pelin is acknowledged for agreeing to act as Custos. Docent Sirpa Kivirikko is warmly thanked for accepting the role of Opponent in my dissertation.

I am deeply grateful to my supervisor Marjo Kestilä for continuous guidance, interest and support during my thesis work. I am amazed of your endless energy to perform your duties efficiently and still be there for everyone who needs you. You have always had time to answer my questions but also, you have counted on me enough to give me the liberty to make my own decisions and develop as a scientist. Marjo is also thanked for many enjoyable scientific and also not-so-professional conversations in the office. I am grateful for our friendship.

I wish to thank all the clinicians, co-authors and collaborators who have worked with us. Especially Riitta Salonen, Riitta Herva, Anders Paetau and Jaakko Ignatius are thanked for their invaluable contribution in this research. I am grateful to all of them for sharing their passion, knowledge and experience with us and for always being ready to help.

Leena Peltonen-Palotie is thanked for her help during the study. I thank Kirmo Wartiovaara for excellent advice in the neuronal cell studies. Massimiliano Gentile is acknowledged for valuable guidance with the microarray data analysis. Matti Jauhiainen is thanked for sharing his brilliant knowledge, enthusiasm and positive energy with us. I am grateful to Ismo Ulmanen and Tanja Ilmarinen for being so helpful during the cell studies. Matti and Iski are also thanked for the traditional

outdoor activities that always were unforgettable events. Anu Jalanko, Vesa Olkkonen and other senior scientists are thanked for all the help and advice.

I have been privileged to belong in a wonderful research group and I am grateful for the friendships we have made. The past and present members Iita, Jonna, Heidi, Jenni, Anna, Mira and Niklas are thanked for pleasant company and excellent conversations during the years. Work would have been so much more boring without you and the uniquely evolved sense of humour we share. Thanks also for the former trainees Tiina and Laura, it was a pleasure to get to know you. I would like to thank Jenni for helping me in numerous laborious studies during the last years of this work. Special thanks to Jonna for sharing both the bliss and the agony of finishing the thesis work with me.

I have had countless enjoyable moments with many of the past and present fellow scientists of the department. Nora, Tanja, Taina, Jarkko, Tintti, Annina, Kristiina, Kaisu L, Carola, Eveliina, Kaisu K, Olli, Sampo, Jussi, Henna L, Pia, Tero Y, Mikko, Naula, Jani and all the others are thanked for peer support, help, advice and for the fun times we have spent together both in the lab as well as in the meetings and parties.

I would like to thank Mervi Kuronen and Liisa Myllykangas for introducing the world of flies to me. Mervi is also thanked for many enjoyable conversations in the lab. My colleagues in the HBGS student council are thanked for many joyful meetings and events we shared. Thanks to Heli Fox for valuable help in the practical work and for her cheerful company. Also others in the Sariola lab are thanked for helping and keeping company during the long hours of pipetting. Lisa is acknowledged for participation and valuable help in the beginning of my thesis work.

Tuija Svahnbäck, Sisko Lietola, Sanna Tossavainen, Mika Kivimäki, Liisa Penttilä, Sari Mustala and Sari Kivikko are acknowledged for taking care of many administrative matters, for helping to solve problems and for patiently answering all the questions I have had. Thanks also to Juri Ahokas for helping me with numerous software problems and to Jari Raikko for patiently keeping the computers up and running.

I would like to thank the skilful technical personnel of our department for assisting with various methods as well as with practical issues and for teaching new methods. Ritva Timonen and Katriina Hautaviita are thanked for excellent technical assistance and great company during the years. The sequencing laboratory staff is acknowledged for providing superb sequencing service.

Warm thanks to all my dear friends who have been there for me in the ups and downs of life and for all the fun times in- and outside the scientific world. I would especially like to thank Hanna, Heidi, Riitta, Iita and Sanna, as well as their spouses, children and pets, for many enjoyable moments we have spent together.

I am grateful to my parents Teija and Pentti and my brother Matti for being there for me, always encouraging and supporting me whatever I have been doing. My amazing grandmothers Hellin and Helvi are thanked for giving me valuable advices for life. Tuula and Keijo are thanked for welcoming me into their family.

Finally, I would like to thank Janne with all my heart for bringing so much love, care and happiness into my life. Thank you for supporting me with your positive "can do" attitude. You mean the world to me.

Helsinki, March 2009

Heli Honkala

REFERENCES

- Adetoro OO, Komolafe F, Anjorin A (1984) Hydrolethalus syndrome in consecutive African siblings. Pediatr Radiol 14:422-424.
- Anyane-Yeboa K, Collins M, Kupsky W, Maidman J, Malin J, Yeh M (1987) Hydrolethalus (Salonen-Herva-Norio) syndrome: further clinicopathological delineation. Am J Med Genet 26:899-907.
- Aughton DJ, Cassidy SB (1987) Hydrolethalus syndrome: report of an apparent mild case, literature review, and differential diagnosis. Am J Med Genet 27:935-942.
- Bachman H, Clark RD, Salahi W (1990) Holoprosencephaly and polydactyly: a possible expression of the hydrolethalus syndrome. J Med Genet 27:50-52.
- Banks RE, Dunn MJ, Hochstrasser DF, Sanchez JC, Blackstock W, Pappin DJ, Selby PJ (2000) Proteomics: new perspectives, new biomedical opportunities. Lancet 356:1749-1756.
- Bertrand N, Dahmane N (2006) Sonic hedgehog signaling in forebrain development and its interactions with pathways that modify its effects. Trends Cell Biol 16:597-605.
- Biesecker LG (2006) What you can learn from one gene: GLI3. J Med Genet 43:465-469.
- Brodbelt A, Stoodley M (2007) CSF pathways: a review. Br J Neurosurg 21:510-520.
- Buss RR, Oppenheim RW (2004) Role of programmed cell death in normal neuronal development and function. Anat Sci Int 79:191-197.
- Buss RR, Sun W, Oppenheim RW (2006) Adaptive roles of programmed cell death during nervous system development. Annu Rev Neurosci 29:1-35.
- Bystron I, Blakemore C, Rakic P (2008) Development of the human cerebral cortex: Boulder Committee revisited. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:110-122.
- Campbell K, Götz M (2002) Radial glia: multi-purpose cells for vertebrate brain development. Trends Neurosci 25:235-238.
- Carlson BM (2004) Human embryology and developmental biology, 3rd Edition. Philadelphia, PA: Mosby.
- Cartegni L, Chew SL, Krainer AR (2002) Listening to silence and understanding nonsense: exonic mutations that affect splicing. Nat Rev Genet 3:285-298.
- Castori M, Douzgou S, Silvestri E, Encha-Razavi F, Dallapiccola B (2007) Reassessment of holoprosencephaly-diencephalic hamartoblastoma (HDH) association. Am J Med Genet A 143:277-284.

- Chan BC, Shek TW, Lee CP (2004) First-trimester diagnosis of hydrolethalus syndrome in a Chinese family. Prenat Diagn 24:587-590.
- Christensen B, Blaas HG, Isaksen CV, Roald B, Orstavik KH (2000) Sibs with anencephaly, anophthalmia, clefts, omphalocele, and polydactyly: hydrolethalus or acrocallosal syndrome? Am J Med Genet 91:231-234.
- Chu CT, Plowey ED, Wang Y, Patel V, Jordan-Sciutto KL (2007) Location, location: altered transcription factor trafficking in neurodegeneration. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 66:873-883.
- Clarren SK, Alvord EC, Jr., Hall JG (1980) Congenital hypothalamic hamartoblastoma, hypopituitarism, imperforate anus, and postaxial polydactyly--a new syndrome? Part II: Neuropathological considerations. Am J Med Genet 7:75-83.
- Cohen MM, Jr. (2003) The hedgehog signaling network. Am J Med Genet A 123A:5-28.
- Collins FS (1992) Positional cloning: let's not call it reverse anymore. Nat Genet 1:3-6.
- Collins FS (1995) Positional cloning moves from perditional to traditional. Nat Genet 9:347-350.
- Cooper MK, Wassif CA, Krakowiak PA, Taipale J, Gong R, Kelley RI, Porter FD, Beachy PA (2003) A defective response to Hedgehog signaling in disorders of cholesterol biosynthesis. Nat Genet 33:508-513.
- Correa-Cerro LS, Porter FD (2005) 3beta-hydroxysterol Delta7-reductase and the Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome. Mol Genet Metab 84:112-126.
- Correa-Cerro LS, Wassif CA, Waye JS, Krakowiak PA, Cozma D, Dobson NR, Levin SW, Anadiotis G, Steiner RD, Krajewska-Walasek M, Nowaczyk MJ, Porter FD (2005)
 DHCR7 nonsense mutations and characterisation of mRNA nonsense mediated decay in Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome. J Med Genet 42:350-357.
- Curry CJ, Carey JC, Holland JS, Chopra D, Fineman R, Golabi M, Sherman S, Pagon RA, Allanson J, Shulman S, et al. (1987) Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome-type II: multiple congenital anomalies with male pseudohermaphroditism and frequent early lethality. Am J Med Genet 26:45-57.
- de Ravel TJ, van der Griendt MC, Evan P, Wright CA (1999) Hydrolethalus syndrome in a non-Finnish family: confirmation of the entity and early prenatal diagnosis. Prenat Diagn 19:279-281.
- Dehay C, Kennedy H (2007) Cell-cycle control and cortical development. Nat Rev Neurosci 8:438-450.
- Diaz E (2006) A functional genomics guide to the galaxy of neuronal cell types. Nat Neurosci 9:10-12.

- Doss BJ, Jolly S, Qureshi F, Jacques SM, Evans MI, Johnson MP, Lampinen J, Kupsky WJ (1998) Neuropathologic findings in a case of OFDS type VI (Varadi syndrome). Am J Med Genet 77:38-42.
- Dubovsky J, Sheffield VC, Duyk GM, Weber JL (1995) Sets of short tandem repeat polymorphisms for efficient linkage screening of the human genome. Hum Mol Genet 4:449-452.
- Elson E, Perveen R, Donnai D, Wall S, Black GC (2002) De novo GLI3 mutation in acrocallosal syndrome: broadening the phenotypic spectrum of GLI3 defects and overlap with murine models. J Med Genet 39:804-806.
- Emerich DF, Skinner SJ, Borlongan CV, Vasconcellos AV, Thanos CG (2005) The choroid plexus in the rise, fall and repair of the brain. Bioessays 27:262-274.
- Eriksson SH, Thom M, Heffernan J, Lin WR, Harding BN, Squier MV, Sisodiya SM (2001) Persistent reelin-expressing Cajal-Retzius cells in polymicrogyria. Brain 124:1350-1361.
- Fliegauf M, Benzing T, Omran H (2007) When cilia go bad: cilia defects and ciliopathies. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8:880-893.
- Ford-Perriss M, Abud H, Murphy M (2001) Fibroblast growth factors in the developing central nervous system. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 28:493-503.
- Frazer KA, Ballinger DG, Cox DR, Hinds DA, Stuve LL, Gibbs RA, Belmont JW, Boudreau A, Hardenbol P, Leal SM, Pasternak S, Wheeler DA, Willis TD, Yu F, Yang H, Zeng C, Gao Y, Hu H, Hu W, Li C, Lin W, Liu S, Pan H, Tang X, Wang J, Wang W, Yu J, Zhang B, Zhang Q, Zhao H, Zhao H, Zhou J, Gabriel SB, Barry R, Blumenstiel B, Camargo A, Defelice M, Faggart M, Goyette M, Gupta S, Moore J, Nguyen H, Onofrio RC, Parkin M, Roy J, Stahl E, Winchester E, Ziaugra L, Altshuler D, Shen Y, Yao Z, Huang W, Chu X, He Y, Jin L, Liu Y, Shen Y, Sun W, Wang H, Wang Y, Wang Y, Xiong X, Xu L, Waye MM, Tsui SK, Xue H, Wong JT, Galver LM, Fan JB, Gunderson K, Murray SS, Oliphant AR, Chee MS, Montpetit A, Chagnon F, Ferretti V, Leboeuf M, Olivier JF, Phillips MS, Roumy S, Sallee C, Verner A, Hudson TJ, Kwok PY, Cai D, Koboldt DC, Miller RD, Pawlikowska L, Taillon-Miller P, Xiao M, Tsui LC, Mak W, Song YQ, Tam PK, Nakamura Y, Kawaguchi T, Kitamoto T, Morizono T, Nagashima A, Ohnishi Y et al. (2007) A second generation human haplotype map of over 3.1 million SNPs. Nature 449:851-861.
- Friedrichs M, Larralde O, Skutella T, Theil T (2008) Lamination of the cerebral cortex is disturbed in Gli3 mutant mice. Dev Biol 318:203-214.
- Fuccillo M, Joyner AL, Fishell G (2006) Morphogen to mitogen: the multiple roles of hedgehog signalling in vertebrate neural development. Nat Rev Neurosci 7:772-783.
- Fukada T, Ono M, Sakata S, Kioka N, Sakai H, Komano T (2003) Genomic structure and 5'flanking sequences of rat N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase I gene and regulatory role of its transcriptional diversity. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 67:1515-1521.

- Gama-Carvalho M, Carmo-Fonseca M (2001) The rules and roles of nucleocytoplasmic shuttling proteins. FEBS Lett 498:157-163.
- Garden GA, Möller T (2006) Microglia biology in health and disease. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 1:127-137.
- Genin E, Feingold J, Clerget-Darpoux F (2008) Identifying modifier genes of monogenic disease: strategies and difficulties. Hum Genet 124:357-368.
- Gill G (2004) SUMO and ubiquitin in the nucleus: different functions, similar mechanisms? Genes Dev 18:2046-2059.
- Graveley BR (2001) Alternative splicing: increasing diversity in the proteomic world. Trends Genet 17:100-107.
- Gray IC, Campbell DA, Spurr NK (2000) Single nucleotide polymorphisms as tools in human genetics. Hum Mol Genet 9:2403-2408.
- Guldberg P, Henriksen KF, Sipila I, Guttler F, de la Chapelle A (1995) Phenylketonuria in a low incidence population: molecular characterisation of mutations in Finland. J Med Genet 32:976-978.
- Hall JG, Pallister PD, Clarren SK, Beckwith JB, Wiglesworth FW, Fraser FC, Cho S, Benke PJ, Reed SD (1980) Congenital hypothalamic hamartoblastoma, hypopituitarism, imperforate anus and postaxial polydactyly--a new syndrome? Part I: clinical, causal, and pathogenetic considerations. Am J Med Genet 7:47-74.
- Hartikainen-Sorri AL, Kirkinen P, Herva R (1983) Prenatal detection of hydrolethalus syndrome. Prenat Diagn 3:219-224.
- Hennekam RC (2005) Congenital brain anomalies in distal cholesterol biosynthesis defects. J Inherit Metab Dis 28:385-392.
- Hennekam RC, van Noort G, de la Fuente AA (1991) Familial holoprosencephaly, heart defects, and polydactyly. Am J Med Genet 41:258-262.
- Herva R, Seppänen U (1984) Roentgenologic findings of the hydrolethalus syndrome. Pediatr Radiol 14:41-43.
- Hingorani SR, Pagon RA, Shepard TH, Kapur RP (1991) Twin fetuses with abnormalities that overlap with three midline malformation complexes. Am J Med Genet 41:230-235.
- Hua JY, Smith SJ (2004) Neural activity and the dynamics of central nervous system development. Nat Neurosci 7:327-332.
- Huopaniemi L, Rantala A, Forsius H, Somer M, de la Chapelle A, Alitalo T (1999) Three widespread founder mutations contribute to high incidence of X-linked juvenile retinoschisis in Finland. Eur J Hum Genet 7:368-376.

- Ibanez-Tallon I, Pagenstecher A, Fliegauf M, Olbrich H, Kispert A, Ketelsen UP, North A, Heintz N, Omran H (2004) Dysfunction of axonemal dynein heavy chain Mdnah5 inhibits ependymal flow and reveals a novel mechanism for hydrocephalus formation. Hum Mol Genet 13:2133-2141.
- IHGSC (2004) Finishing the euchromatic sequence of the human genome. Nature 431:931-945.
- Irons M, Elias ER, Salen G, Tint GS, Batta AK (1993) Defective cholesterol biosynthesis in Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome. Lancet 341:1414.
- Jezela-Stanek A, Malunowicz EM, Ciara E, Popowska E, Goryluk-Kozakiewicz B, Spodar K, Czerwiecka M, Jezuita J, Nowaczyk MJ, Krajewska-Walasek M (2006) Maternal urinary steroid profiles in prenatal diagnosis of Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome: first patient series comparing biochemical and molecular studies. Clin Genet 69:77-85.
- Ji H, Zhang Y, Zheng W, Wu Z, Lee S, Sandberg K (2004) Translational regulation of angiotensin type 1a receptor expression and signaling by upstream AUGs in the 5' leader sequence. J Biol Chem 279:45322-45328.
- Johnston JJ, Olivos-Glander I, Killoran C, Elson E, Turner JT, Peters KF, Abbott MH, Aughton DJ, Aylsworth AS, Bamshad MJ, Booth C, Curry CJ, David A, Dinulos MB, Flannery DB, Fox MA, Graham JM, Grange DK, Guttmacher AE, Hannibal MC, Henn W, Hennekam RC, Holmes LB, Hoyme HE, Leppig KA, Lin AE, Macleod P, Manchester DK, Marcelis C, Mazzanti L, McCann E, McDonald MT, Mendelsohn NJ, Moeschler JB, Moghaddam B, Neri G, Newbury-Ecob R, Pagon RA, Phillips JA, Sadler LS, Stoler JM, Tilstra D, Walsh Vockley CM, Zackai EH, Zadeh TM, Brueton L, Black GC, Biesecker LG (2005) Molecular and clinical analyses of Greig cephalopolysyndactyly and Pallister-Hall syndromes: robust phenotype prediction from the type and position of GLI3 mutations. Am J Hum Genet 76:609-622.
- Kang S, Allen J, Graham JM, Jr., Grebe T, Clericuzio C, Patronas N, Ondrey F, Green E, Schaffer A, Abbott M, Biesecker LG (1997a) Linkage mapping and phenotypic analysis of autosomal dominant Pallister-Hall syndrome. J Med Genet 34:441-446.
- Kang S, Graham JM, Jr., Olney AH, Biesecker LG (1997b) GLI3 frameshift mutations cause autosomal dominant Pallister-Hall syndrome. Nat Genet 15:266-268.
- Kere J, Estivill X, Chillon M, Morral N, Nunes V, Norio R, Savilahti E, de la Chapelle A (1994) Cystic fibrosis in a low-incidence population: two major mutations in Finland. Hum Genet 93:162-166.
- Kestilä M, Lenkkeri U, Männikkö M, Lamerdin J, McCready P, Putaala H, Ruotsalainen V, Morita T, Nissinen M, Herva R, Kashtan CE, Peltonen L, Holmberg C, Olsen A, Tryggvason K (1998) Positionally cloned gene for a novel glomerular protein--nephrin-is mutated in congenital nephrotic syndrome. Mol Cell 1:575-582.
- Kivelä T, Salonen R, Paetau A (1996) Hydrolethalus: a midline malformation syndrome with optic nerve coloboma and hypoplasia. Acta Neuropathol 91:511-518.

- Koenig R, Bach A, Woelki U, Grzeschik KH, Fuchs S (2002) Spectrum of the acrocallosal syndrome. Am J Med Genet 108:7-11.
- Koide T, Hayata T, Cho KW (2006) Negative regulation of Hedgehog signaling by the cholesterogenic enzyme 7-dehydrocholesterol reductase. Development 133:2395-2405.
- Korade Z, Kenworthy AK (2008) Lipid rafts, cholesterol, and the brain. Neuropharmacology 55:1265-1273.
- Krassikoff N, Konick L, Gilbert EF (1987) The hydrolethalus syndrome. Birth Defects Orig Artic Ser 23:411-419.
- Kyttälä M, Tallila J, Salonen R, Kopra O, Kohlschmidt N, Paavola-Sakki P, Peltonen L, Kestilä M (2006) MKS1, encoding a component of the flagellar apparatus basal body proteome, is mutated in Meckel syndrome. Nat Genet 38:155-157.
- Lander ES, Linton LM, Birren B, Nusbaum C, Zody MC, Baldwin J, Devon K, Dewar K, Doyle M, FitzHugh W, Funke R, Gage D, Harris K, Heaford A, Howland J, Kann L, Lehoczky J, LeVine R, McEwan P, McKernan K, Meldrim J, Mesirov JP, Miranda C, Morris W, Naylor J, Raymond C, Rosetti M, Santos R, Sheridan A, Sougnez C, Stange-Thomann N, Stojanovic N, Subramanian A, Wyman D, Rogers J, Sulston J, Ainscough R, Beck S, Bentley D, Burton J, Clee C, Carter N, Coulson A, Deadman R, Deloukas P, Dunham A, Dunham I, Durbin R, French L, Grafham D, Gregory S, Hubbard T, Humphray S, Hunt A, Jones M, Lloyd C, McMurray A, Matthews L, Mercer S, Milne S, Mullikin JC, Mungall A, Plumb R, Ross M, Shownkeen R, Sims S, Waterston RH, Wilson RK, Hillier LW, McPherson JD, Marra MA, Mardis ER, Fulton LA, Chinwalla AT, Pepin KH, Gish WR, Chissoe SL, Wendl MC, Delehaunty KD, Miner TL, Delehaunty A, Kramer JB, Cook LL, Fulton RS, Johnson DL, Minx PJ, Clifton SW, Hawkins T, Branscomb E, Predki P, Richardson P, Wenning S, Slezak T, Doggett N, Cheng JF, Olsen A, Lucas S, Elkin C, Uberbacher E, Frazier M et al. (2001) Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature 409:860-921.
- Li C, Inglis PN, Leitch CC, Efimenko E, Zaghloul NA, Mok CA, Davis EE, Bialas NJ, Healey MP, Heon E, Zhen M, Swoboda P, Katsanis N, Leroux MR (2008) An essential role for DYF-11/MIP-T3 in assembling functional intraflagellar transport complexes. PLoS Genet 4:e1000044.
- Li Z, Wang C, Jiao X, Lu Y, Fu M, Quong AA, Dye C, Yang J, Dai M, Ju X, Zhang X, Li A, Burbelo P, Stanley ER, Pestell RG (2006a) Cyclin D1 regulates cellular migration through the inhibition of thrombospondin 1 and ROCK signaling. Mol Cell Biol 26:4240-4256.
- Li Z, Wang C, Prendergast GC, Pestell RG (2006b) Cyclin D1 functions in cell migration. Cell Cycle 5:2440-2442.

- Marin O, Yaron A, Bagri A, Tessier-Lavigne M, Rubenstein JL (2001) Sorting of striatal and cortical interneurons regulated by semaphorin-neuropilin interactions. Science 293:872-875.
- Mehler MF, Mabie PC, Zhang D, Kessler JA (1997) Bone morphogenetic proteins in the nervous system. Trends Neurosci 20:309-317.
- Monuki ES (2007) The morphogen signaling network in forebrain development and holoprosencephaly. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 66:566-575.
- Morava E, Adamovich K, Czeizel AE (1996) Dandy-Walker malformation and polydactyly: a possible expression of hydrolethalus syndrome. Clin Genet 49:211-215.
- Müller S, Hoege C, Pyrowolakis G, Jentsch S (2001) SUMO, ubiquitin's mysterious cousin. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2:202-210.
- Nadarajah B, Parnavelas JG (2002) Modes of neuronal migration in the developing cerebral cortex. Nat Rev Neurosci 3:423-432.
- Nakielny S, Dreyfuss G (1999) Transport of proteins and RNAs in and out of the nucleus. Cell 99:677-690.
- Ndubaku U, de Bellard ME (2008) Glial cells: old cells with new twists. Acta Histochem 110:182-195.
- Nelson MM, Thomson AJ (1982) The acrocallosal syndrome. Am J Med Genet 12:195-199.
- Nishant KT, Rao MR (2006) Molecular features of meiotic recombination hot spots. Bioessays 28:45-56.
- Norio R (2003a) Finnish Disease Heritage I: characteristics, causes, background. Hum Genet 112:441-456.
- Norio R (2003b) Finnish Disease Heritage II: population prehistory and genetic roots of Finns. Hum Genet 112:457-469.
- Norio R (2003c) The Finnish Disease Heritage III: the individual diseases. Hum Genet 112:470-526.
- Norio R, Nevanlinna HR, Perheentupa J (1973) Hereditary diseases in Finland; rare flora in rare soul. Ann Clin Res 5:109-141.
- Pastinen T, Perola M, Ignatius J, Sabatti C, Tainola P, Levander M, Syvanen AC, Peltonen L (2001) Dissecting a population genome for targeted screening of disease mutations. Hum Mol Genet 10:2961-2972.
- Peltonen L, Jalanko A, Varilo T (1999) Molecular genetics of the Finnish disease heritage. Hum Mol Genet 8:1913-1923.
- Perheentupa J (1972) Suomalainen tautiperintö. Duodecim 88:1-188.
- Porter FD (2008) Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome: pathogenesis, diagnosis and management. Eur J Hum Genet 16:535-541.

- Pryde PG, Qureshi F, Hallak M, Kupsky W, Johnson MP, Evans MI (1993) Two consecutive hydrolethalus syndrome-affected pregnancies in a nonconsanguinous black couple: discussion of problems in prenatal differential diagnosis of midline malformation syndromes. Am J Med Genet 46:537-541.
- Rakheja D, Cimo ML, Ramus RM, Rogers BB, Bennett MJ, Boyer PJ, Galindo RL (2004) Hydrolethalus syndrome, in contrast to Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome, is not due to a defect in post-squalene cholesterol biosynthesis: a case report. Am J Med Genet A 129A:212-213.
- Roessler E, Belloni E, Gaudenz K, Jay P, Berta P, Scherer SW, Tsui LC, Muenke M (1996) Mutations in the human Sonic Hedgehog gene cause holoprosencephaly. Nat Genet 14:357-360.
- Roscioli T, Kennedy D, Cui J, Fonseca B, Watson GF, Pereira J, Xie YG, Mowat D (2005) Pallister-Hall syndrome: unreported skeletal features of a GLI3 mutation. Am J Med Genet A 136A:390-394.
- Sadler TW (2005) Embryology of neural tube development. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 135C:2-8.
- Salonen R, Herva R (1990) Hydrolethalus syndrome. J Med Genet 27:756-759.
- Salonen R, Herva R, Norio R (1981) The hydrolethalus syndrome: delineation of a "new", lethal malformation syndrome based on 28 patients. Clin Genet 19:321-330.
- Sankila EM, Tolvanen R, van den Hurk JA, Cremers FP, de la Chapelle A (1992) Aberrant splicing of the CHM gene is a significant cause of choroideremia. Nat Genet 1:109-113.
- Sariola H, Frilander M, Heino T, Jernvall J, Partanen J, Sainio K, Salminen M, Thesleff I (2003) Solusta yksilöksi - Kehitysbiologia. Helsinki: Kustannus Oy Duodecim.
- Schell-Apacik C, Rivero M, Knepper JL, Roessler E, Muenke M, Ming JE (2003) SONIC HEDGEHOG mutations causing human holoprosencephaly impair neural patterning activity. Hum Genet 113:170-177.
- Shotelersuk V, Punyavoravud V, Phudhichareonrat S, Kukulprasong A (2001) An Asian girl with a 'milder' form of the Hydrolethalus syndrome. Clin Dysmorphol 10:51-55.
- Smith DW, Lemli L, Opitz JM (1964) A Newly Recognized Syndrome of Multiple Congenital Anomalies. J Pediatr 64:210-217.
- Smith JM, Koopman PA (2004) The ins and outs of transcriptional control: nucleocytoplasmic shuttling in development and disease. Trends Genet 20:4-8.
- St Johnston D (2002) The art and design of genetic screens: Drosophila melanogaster. Nat Rev Genet 3:176-188.

- Tallila J, Jakkula E, Peltonen L, Salonen R, Kestila M (2008) Identification of CC2D2A as a Meckel syndrome gene adds an important piece to the ciliopathy puzzle. Am J Hum Genet 82:1361-1367.
- Tashiro E, Tsuchiya A, Imoto M (2007) Functions of cyclin D1 as an oncogene and regulation of cyclin D1 expression. Cancer Sci 98:629-635.
- Teare MD, Barrett JH (2005) Genetic linkage studies. Lancet 366:1036-1044.
- Terry LJ, Shows EB, Wente SR (2007) Crossing the nuclear envelope: hierarchical regulation of nucleocytoplasmic transport. Science 318:1412-1416.
- Theil T (2005) Gli3 is required for the specification and differentiation of preplate neurons. Dev Biol 286:559-571.
- Tint GS, Irons M, Elias ER, Batta AK, Frieden R, Chen TS, Salen G (1994) Defective cholesterol biosynthesis associated with the Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome. N Engl J Med 330:107-113.
- Toriello HV, Bauserman SC (1985) Bilateral pulmonary agenesis: association with the hydrolethalus syndrome and review of the literature from a developmental field perspective. Am J Med Genet 21:93-103.
- Toriello HV, Carey JC, Suslak E, Desposito FR, Leonard B, Lipson M, Friedman BD, Hoyme HE (1997) Six patients with oral-facial-digital syndrome IV: the case for heterogeneity. Am J Med Genet 69:250-260.
- Wan H, Wootton JC (2000) A global compositional complexity measure for biological sequences: AT-rich and GC-rich genomes encode less complex proteins. Comput Chem 24:71-94.
- Varadi V, Szabo L, Papp Z (1980) Syndrome of polydactyly, cleft lip/palate or lingual lump, and psychomotor retardation in endogamic gypsies. J Med Genet 17:119-122.
- Varjosalo M, Taipale J (2008) Hedgehog: functions and mechanisms. Genes Dev 22:2454-2472.
- Watson JD, Crick FH (1953) Molecular structure of nucleic acids; a structure for deoxyribose nucleic acid. Nature 171:737-738.
- Waye JS, Eng B, Nowaczyk MJ (2007) Prenatal diagnosis of Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome (SLOS) by DHCR7 mutation analysis. Prenat Diagn 27:638-640.
- Venter JC, Adams MD, Myers EW, Li PW, Mural RJ, Sutton GG, Smith HO, Yandell M, Evans CA, Holt RA, Gocayne JD, Amanatides P, Ballew RM, Huson DH, Wortman JR, Zhang Q, Kodira CD, Zheng XH, Chen L, Skupski M, Subramanian G, Thomas PD, Zhang J, Gabor Miklos GL, Nelson C, Broder S, Clark AG, Nadeau J, McKusick VA, Zinder N, Levine AJ, Roberts RJ, Simon M, Slayman C, Hunkapiller M, Bolanos R, Delcher A, Dew I, Fasulo D, Flanigan M, Florea L, Halpern A, Hannenhalli S, Kravitz S, Levy S, Mobarry C, Reinert K, Remington K, Abu-Threideh J, Beasley E, Biddick K, Bonazzi V, Brandon R, Cargill M, Chandramouliswaran I, Charlab R, Chaturvedi K, Deng Z, Di Francesco V, Dunn P, Eilbeck K, Evangelista C, Gabrielian AE, Gan W, Ge W, Gong F,

Gu Z, Guan P, Heiman TJ, Higgins ME, Ji RR, Ke Z, Ketchum KA, Lai Z, Lei Y, Li Z, Li J, Liang Y, Lin X, Lu F, Merkulov GV, Milshina N, Moore HM, Naik AK, Narayan VA, Neelam B, Nusskern D, Rusch DB, Salzberg S, Shao W, Shue B, Sun J, Wang Z, Wang A, Wang X, Wang J, Wei M, Wides R, Xiao C, Yan C et al. (2001) The sequence of the human genome. Science 291:1304-1351.

- Verloes A (1995) Numerical syndromology: a mathematical approach to the nosology of complex phenotypes. Am J Med Genet 55:433-443.
- Villavicencio EH, Walterhouse DO, Iannaccone PM (2000) The sonic hedgehog-patched-gli pathway in human development and disease. Am J Hum Genet 67:1047-1054.
- Visapää I, Salonen R, Varilo T, Paavola P, Peltonen L (1999) Assignment of the locus for hydrolethalus syndrome to a highly restricted region on 11q23-25. Am J Hum Genet 65:1086-1095.
- Witsch-Baumgartner M, Fitzky BU, Ogorelkova M, Kraft HG, Moebius FF, Glossmann H, Seedorf U, Gillessen-Kaesbach G, Hoffmann GF, Clayton P, Kelley RI, Utermann G (2000) Mutational spectrum in the Delta7-sterol reductase gene and genotype-phenotype correlation in 84 patients with Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 66:402-412.
- Witsch-Baumgartner M, Schwentner I, Gruber M, Benlian P, Bertranpetit J, Bieth E, Chevy F, Clusellas N, Estivill X, Gasparini G, Giros M, Kelley RI, Krajewska-Walasek M, Menzel J, Miettinen T, Ogorelkova M, Rossi M, Scala I, Schinzel A, Schmidt K, Schonitzer D, Seemanova E, Sperling K, Syrrou M, Talmud PJ, Wollnik B, Krawczak M, Labuda D, Utermann G (2008) Age and origin of major Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome (SLOS) mutations in European populations. J Med Genet 45:200-209.
- Wootton JC (1994) Non-globular domains in protein sequences: automated segmentation using complexity measures. Comput Chem 18:269-285.
- Yoneda Y (2000) Nucleocytoplasmic protein traffic and its significance to cell function. Genes Cells 5:777-787.
- Zhang J, Williams MA, Rigamonti D (2006) Genetics of human hydrocephalus. J Neurol 253:1255-1266.
- Zhao J (2007) Sumoylation regulates diverse biological processes. Cell Mol Life Sci 64:3017-3033.
- Ämmälä P, Salonen R (1995) First-trimester diagnosis of hydrolethalus syndrome. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 5:60-62.